



BREAST CANCER QUALITY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR DESCRIPTIONS

2025

Released 2025 teaho.govt.nz

Citation: Te Aho o Te Kahu. 2025. Breast Cancer Quality Performance Indicator Descriptions. Wellington: Te Aho o Te Kahu.

Published in June 2025 by Te Aho o Te Kahu, the Cancer Control Agency PO Box 5013, Wellington 6140, New Zealand

ISBN 978-1-99-110021-4 (evi) HP 8040



This document is available at teaho.govt.nz and health.govt.nz

Acknowledgement



Te Rēhita
Mate Ūtaetae
Breast Cancer
Foundation
Te Aho o Te Kahu would like to acknowledge
Te Rēhita Mate Ūtaetate – Breast Cancer
Foundation National Register (Te Rēhita), for
providing the source data and working with
the agency to do the calculations for the
breast cancer quality performance indicators.

Te Aho o Te Kahu also thanks the Breast Cancer Foundation NZ, as the funder of Te Rēhita, for supporting this work to proceed.



This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence. In essence, you are free to: share ie, copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format; adapt ie, remix, transform and build upon the material. You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the licence and indicate if changes were made.

CONTENTS

	Background	1
	National data for indicators	2
	Glossary	3
Br	east cancer quality performance indicators	7
	BrCQI 1. Route to diagnosis	10
	BrCQI 2. Histological grading	11
	BrCQI 3. Repeat receptor testing of people with first metastatic relapse	12
	BrCQI 4. Appropriate staging investigation	13
	BrCQI 5. Breast-conserving surgery	15
	BrCQI 6. Immediate reconstruction at the time of mastectomy	17
	BrCQI 7. Delayed reconstruction	19
	BrCQI 8. Single surgery	20
	BrCQI 9. Adequate margins of excision for invasive and in situ breast cancer	22
	BrCQI 10. Metastatic breast cancer seen by medical oncologist	24
	BrCQI 11. Chemotherapy with or without Trastuzumab	25
	BrCQI 12. Endocrine therapy for metastatic breast cancer	26
	BrCQI 13. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy	27
	BrCQI 14. Adjuvant endocrine therapy adherence	28
	BrCQI 15. Adjuvant radiation therapy following breast-conserving surgery	30
	BrCQI 16. Adjuvant radiation therapy following mastectomy	31
	BrCQI 17. Use of cardiac sparing radiation therapy	33
	BrCQI 18. Use of five-fraction breast prescription received	34
	BrCQI 19. Overall and relative survival	36
	BrCQI 20. Metastatic breast cancer survival	38
	BrCQI 21. Multidisciplinary discussion for early and metastatic breast cancer	40
	BrCQI 22. Completeness of breast data within the New Zealand Cancer Regist	try 41
	BrCQI 23. Timely diagnosis	42
	BrCQI 24. Time to surgery	43
	BrCQI 25. Adjuvant chemotherapy	45
	BrCQI 26. Access to radiation therapy	46
Αŗ	opendix 1: Working group members	47
Αŗ	ppendix 2: References	48



Background

What is the quality performance indicator programme?

Across Aotearoa New Zealand, cancer services deliver high-quality care for most people, most of the time. However, this high-quality care is not delivered consistently across the country and to all people living in Aotearoa equally.

This quality performance indicator (QPI) programme aims to provide information to support the improvement of the quality of cancer diagnosis and treatment services and, therefore, the achievement of better outcomes for people diagnosed with cancer across Aotearoa.

It does so by developing, calculating, and reporting on cancer-specific QPIs. The QPIs are chosen by clinical experts and key stakeholders. They can be either measurable now or 'aspirational' (that is, the agency hopes to be able to measure and report on them in the future).

Quality performance indicators must:

- address an area of clinical importance that could significantly impact on the quality and outcome of care
- support our goal of achieving Māori health gain and equity
- be measurable (with timely, complete, robust, national data)
- be evidence-based and appropriate for driving quality improvement.

We report QPIs by districts (previously known as district health boards).

The intention of the QPI reports is to highlight variation and to identify where there might need to be further investigation and/or quality improvement action. The programme also aims to highlight where we could make data collection or reporting improvements to support future quality improvement activity.

How were the breast cancer quality performance indicators selected?

The initial breast cancer QPI selection process, led by the Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand (BCFNZ) was started in 2020. The BCFNZ held a sector-wide discussion at a well-attended workshop in November 2020, during the *Breast cancer inSIGhts* 2020 conference (SIG stands for 'special interest group').

In October 2021, responsibility for the development of the breast cancer QPIs transferred from BCFNZ to Te Aho o Te Kahu, Cancer Control Agency (Te Aho o Te Kahu). Te Aho o Te Kahu formed the national breast cancer quality performance indicator working group (the working group). The working group had its first meeting in December



2021 and has met throughout 2022 to draft and agree the descriptions contained in this document.

The QPIs in this document have undergone a rigorous selection and review process, starting with a comprehensive literature review that informed the long list of potential indicators and standards. The working group reviewed the long list to assess their clinical relevance in Aotearoa and their current and potential measurability. It also considered the work undertaken in developing the other cancer-specific QPIs, such as those Te Aho o Te Kahu has reported on for bowel, lung, and prostate cancers.

In September 2021, Te Aho o Te Kahu released the draft breast cancer QPI descriptions for public consultation. We received feedback from approximately 30 stakeholders across a range of sectors, including clinicians, non-governmental organisations, people with lived experience and peak bodies (eg, colleges and special interest groups). We analysed the information from the public consultation and presented the feedback to the working group to finalise the QPIs.

The descriptions were finalised in December 2022 and this document provides the rationale, evidence, and other information for 26 breast cancer QPIs selected.

Next steps

The next step is to select 10 QPIs to calculate and report in the *Breast Cancer Quality Improvement Monitoring Report*. This will be calculated using the BCFNZ's national registry, Te Rēhita mate Ūtaetae (Te Rēhita), which collects national breast cancer patient data for the purpose of facilitating high-quality research, for clinical decision making, audit, and health planning with a view to reduce the burden of breast cancer in New Zealand and improve equity, outcomes, and standard of care.

We will share the draft monitoring report with districts and other key health sector stakeholders to seek their feedback for quality improvement recommendations and undertake quality assurance of the data.

Once the review phase is complete, we will publish the *Breast Cancer Quality Performance Indicator Monitoring Report* on our website and share it with our stakeholders. Alongside the monitoring report, we will also publish the technical specifications, which will describe the calculation method for the QPIs reported in the monitoring report.

National data for indicators

As mentioned above, the national data source referred to in this document is Te Rēhita.

More information on other data sources in the QPI programme can be found on our website: **teaho.govt.nz**



Glossary

Term	Description
Adjuvant chemotherapy	Chemotherapy after surgery
Advanced breast cancer	Cancer that either has spread to other areas of the body (stage IV) or cannot be surgically removed
Biopsy	Removal of tissue to be looked at under a microscope to help in the diagnosis of a disease
Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand (BCFNZ)	Non-government organisation focused on breast cancer education, awareness raising and advocating for breast cancer people
Breast-conserving surgery (BCS)	An operation that aims to remove breast cancer while avoiding a mastectomy (removal of the breast)
BreastScreen Aotearoa (BSA)	New Zealand's free breast screening programme for females aged 45–69; run by the National Screening Unit within Health New Zealand – Te Whatu Ora
Carcinoma	The medical term for cancer
Cardiac sparing radiation therapy	Therapy that seeks to keep the heart out of treated volumes (by use of prone position or specific breathing techniques, such as deep inspiration breath hold)
Chemotherapy	Treatment aimed at destroying cancer cells using anti-cancer drugs
Computed tomography (CT)	A form of tomography in which a computer controls the motion of the X-ray source and detectors, processes the data and produces the image
Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitor	A class of drugs that target particular enzymes to interfere with cell cycle progression, in treating certain types of metastatic breast cancer
De novo metastatic breast cancer	Distant metastases at diagnosis or within 4 months of primary diagnosis is considered de novo metastatic breast cancer; (metastatic disease developed more than 4 months after a primary diagnosis is considered recurrent metastatic breast cancer)
Deep inspiration breath hold	A technique whereby people take a deep breath during radiation treatment and hold it while the radiation is delivered; this takes advantage of a more favourable position of the heart to minimise heart doses over a course of radiation therapy
Delayed reconstruction	Breast reconstruction that occurs sometime after initial mastectomy rather than at the same time as mastectomy (immediate reconstruction).



Term	Description
Diagnosis	The process of identifying a disease, such as cancer, from its signs and symptoms and investigations
Disease-free survival	The length of time after diagnosis and treatment of a primary cancer that the patient survives without any recurrence of that cancer
Ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS)	The presence of abnormal cells inside a breast milk duct that look like cancer but have not yet invaded through the wall of the milk duct or spread elsewhere
Early breast cancer	Invasive breast cancer contained within the breast that may or may not have spread to nearby lymph nodes and has not spread to other parts of the body. For the purposes of these breast cancer QPIs, this is stage I–III
Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG)	Established in 1983 to bring together and analyse evidence of all randomised trials of the treatment of breast cancer
Fraction prescription	The amount of radiation administered and the number of doses (fractions) to a given site
Grade of cancer	A description of a tumour based on how abnormal the cancer cells and tissue look under a microscope and how quickly the cancer cells are dividing. Grade is an important prognostic indicator and helps determine appropriate treatment
Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) receptor	A protein that may be overexpressed by breast cancer cells taken out during a biopsy or surgery. HER2-positive (overexpressing) breast cancer tends to be more aggressive than some of the other subtypes in the absence of targeted treatment. HER2 receptors can be targeted with antibodies; for example, trastuzumab. Knowing if the breast cancer is HER2-positive or negative is very important in deciding appropriate drug treatment options.
Histology	The study of tissues and cells under a microscope
Immediate reconstruction	Breast reconstruction completed at the same time as mastectomy
Invasive breast cancer	Breast cancer that has spread into surrounding breast tissue, and has the potential to spread elsewhere, as distinct from ductal carcinoma in situ
Local recurrence	Recurrence in the same breast or in the chest wall on the same side as the original cancer
Locoregional failure (LRF)	Recurrent or persistent disease, restricted to the same breast or in the chest wall on the same side as the original cancer or to regional nodes on the same side



Torm	Description
Term	Description
Lymph nodes	Glands found in clusters throughout the lymphatic system. They act as a form of filter of tissue fluid or lymph, which drains to regional nodes via tiny channels called lymphatics. These are one of the first places a cancer may spread.
Metastasis	The spread of cancer from a primary site (place where it started) to other places in the body via the bloodstream or the lymphatic system
Metastatic breast cancer (MBC)	Breast cancer that has spread beyond the breast and regional lymph nodes to other areas of the body; also called stage IV breast cancer
Morbidity	The extent of ill-health a particular condition causes
Mortality	The death rate, which reflects the number of deaths per unit of population in any specific region, age group, disease, or other classification, usually expressed as deaths per 1000, 10,000 or 100,000
Multidisciplinary meeting (MDM)	A treatment-planning approach that includes several doctors and other health care professionals who are experts in different specialties (disciplines)
Neoadjuvant chemotherapy	Chemotherapy before surgery
New Zealand Cancer Registry (NZCR)	A population-based register of all primary malignant diseases diagnosed in New Zealand, excluding squamous and basal cell skin cancers
Oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) receptors	Certain proteins expressed by breast cancer cells taken out during a biopsy or surgery. When the hormones oestrogen and progesterone attach to these receptors, they stimulate the cancer to grow. Cancers are called hormone receptor-positive or hormone receptor-negative based on the extent to which they have these receptors. Knowing the receptor status is very important in deciding appropriate drug treatment options
Positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET CT)	A specialised imaging technique that demonstrates uptake of tracer in areas of high cell metabolism and can help differentiate between benign and malignant masses. It is most frequently used to help stage breast cancer by demonstrating or excluding distant metastases
Postmastectomy radiotherapy (PMRT)	Radiation therapy as an adjuvant treatment after mastectomy to help prevent locoregional recurrence and increase survival
Primary tumour	The mass of tumour cells at the original site of the cancer
Prognosis	An assessment of the expected future course and outcome of a patient with cancer



Term	Description
Radiation therapy	Treatment using radiation (eg, high-energy X-rays) to destroy cancer cells
Receptors	Proteins in or on cells that can attach to certain substances in the blood that are commonly found in breast cancer
Recurrence	New cancer cells, at the site of original tumour or elsewhere in the body, detected following treatment
Relative survival	A calculation made by dividing the overall survival after a breast cancer diagnosis by the survival as observed in a similar population not diagnosed with breast cancer
Stage	A way of describing the size of a cancer and how far it has spread. Staging is important because it helps indicate prognosis, and decide which treatments are required
Stratify	To arrange or classify (for example, in stratifying people into well-defined risk groups)
Tissue	A group or layer of cells that work together to perform a specific function
Triple-negative breast cancer	An aggressive kind of breast cancer that does not express any oestrogen, progesterone or HER2 receptors
Tumour	An abnormal mass of tissue that results when cells divide more than they should or do not die when they should. Tumours may be benign (not cancer) or malignant (cancer)
Tumour, node, metastasis (TNM) system	A global standard to record the anatomical extent or stage of disease. Each cancer is assigned a letter or number to describe the tumour, node, and metastases. T stands for the size of the original (primary) tumour. N stands for nodes (indicates whether the cancer has spread to the nearby lymph nodes). M stands for metastasis



BREAST CANCER QUALITY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The table below summarises the set of indicators. The indicator titles in this table are hyperlinked to the detailed descriptions on the following pages.

Indicator title	Indicator description
BrCQI 1: Route to detection	Proportion of people diagnosed with breast cancer by route to detection (BSA-detected, non-BSA image detected, symptomatic)
BrCQI 2: Histological grading	Proportion of people with invasive breast cancer and a histological grade of 3
BrCQI 3: Repeat receptor testing of people with first metastatic relapse	Proportion of people with first metastatic relapse of breast cancer who undergo biopsy and repeat oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) testing
BrCQI 4: Appropriate staging investigation	 Proportion of people with invasive breast cancer with: A. four or more positive lymph nodes or a tumour size >50 mm who have undergone an appropriate staging investigation B. fewer than 4 positive lymph nodes and a tumour size ≤50 mm who have not undergone an appropriate staging investigation
BrCQI 5: Breast-conserving surgery	Proportion of females with breast cancer (invasive and/or ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS)) who undergo breast-conserving surgery (BCS)
BrCQI 6: Immediate reconstruction at the time of mastectomy	Proportion of people receiving reconstruction at the same time as mastectomy
BrCQI 7: Delayed reconstruction	Proportion of people referred for consideration of delayed reconstruction who have reconstruction within 12 months of referral
BrCQI 8: Single surgery	Proportion of people undergoing BCS who received an additional (breast) operation or operations to ensure adequate excision of the primary tumour
BrCQI 9: Adequate margins of excision of invasive and in situ breast cancer	Proportion of females undergoing BCS who have complete excision of their tumour, with a minimum circumferential margin of 1 mm for invasive disease and 2 mm for DCIS (with or without invasive component)



Indicator title	Indicator description
BrCQI 10: Metastatic breast cancer seen by medical oncologist	Proportion of people with metastatic breast cancer (MBC) seen by a medical oncologist
BrCQI 11: Chemotherapy with or without trastuzumab	 Proportion of people: A. with triple-negative stage I-III breast cancer, a tumour >1 cm or node-positive who received chemotherapy B. with HER2-positive stage I-III breast cancer, with a tumour >1 cm or node-positive who received chemotherapy and trastuzumab
BrCQI 12: Endocrine therapy for metastatic breast cancer	Proportion of people with hormone receptor-positive, HER2-negative MBC treated with endocrine therapy with or without cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitor in first line (as opposed to chemotherapy)
BrCQI 13: Neoadjuvant chemotherapy	Proportion of people with triple-negative or HER2- positive stage II or III breast cancer who receive neoadjuvant chemotherapy
BrCQI 14: Adjuvant endocrine therapy adherence	Proportion of females with endocrine-sensitive stage I–III breast cancer who complete 2 years of endocrine therapy (after first script dispensed). Measure: proportion still being dispensed endocrine therapy at: A. 6 months B. 12 months C. 24 months
BrCQI 15: Adjuvant radiation therapy following breast- conserving surgery	Proportion of people receiving adjuvant radiation therapy to the breast after BCS for invasive breast cancer
BrCQI 16: Adjuvant radiation therapy following mastectomy	Proportion of post-mastectomy people receiving adjuvant radiation therapy
BrCQI 17: Use of cardiac sparing radiation therapy	Proportion of people with left-sided breast cancer or DCIS receiving adjuvant radiation therapy treatment with use of a cardiac sparing radiation therapy treatment technique
BrCQI 18: Use of five- fraction breast prescription	Proportion of adjuvant breast and chest wall only people receiving a five-fraction prescription
BrCQI 19: Overall and relative survival	A. Overall survival at 5 and 10 years from diagnosisB. Relative survival at 5 and 10 years from diagnosis



Indicator title	Indicator description
BrCQI 20: Metastatic breast cancer survival	 A. Median overall survival from metastatic diagnosis B. Overall survival at 1, 2, 5 and 10 years from metastatic diagnosis All people and by subgroup: C. hormone-receptor-positive, HER-negative subtype D. hormone-receptor-negative, HER2-negative (triple-negative) subtype E. hormone-receptor-positive, HER2-positive subtype F. hormone-receptor-negative, HER2-positive subtype
BrCQI 21: Multidisciplinary discussion for early and metastatic breast cancer	Proportion of people discussed at a multidisciplinary meeting (MDM) prior to definitive treatment of: A. stage I–III breast cancer B. stage IV breast cancer (MBC)
BrCQI 22: Completeness of breast data within the New Zealand Cancer Registry	Proportion of people with breast cancer who have hormone receptor status, HER2 status, histological grade and tumour, node, metastasis (TNM) staging recorded in the NZCR
BrCQI 23: Timely diagnosis	Proportion of people for whom time from referral to diagnosis of breast cancer is within 28 days.
BrCQI 24: Time to surgery	Proportion of people treated with surgery within: A. six weeks of decision to treat¹ with breast surgery B. eight weeks of decision to treat with breast surgery and undergoing immediate reconstruction
BrCQI 25: Adjuvant chemotherapy	%age of people treated with adjuvant chemotherapy, starting within 6 weeks of surgery
BrCQI 26: Access to radiation therapy	Proportion of people who start adjuvant radiation therapy within: A. eight weeks of surgery B. six weeks of completing adjuvant chemotherapy

¹ Decision to treat - the date the patient agreed to the treatment plan and was placed on the surgical waitlist.



BrCQI 1.Route to detection

Indicator description		Route to detection (BSA-detected vs non-BSA image detected vs symptomatic).
Equity/Māori health gain		Breast screening is associated with reduced breast cancer mortality and detection of breast cancer at an earlier stage (Duffy et al 2020). In Aotearoa New Zealand, breast screening is offered biannually for women between the ages of 45 and 69 years. Therefore, most breast cancers in females between the ages of 45 to 69 years, should be detected through the BSA programme rather than other routes.
		For all breast cancer pathways to detection, there should not be significant differences across geographic, socioeconomic and ethnic groupings within Aotearoa New Zealand.
		(Seneviratne et al 2016) concluded that providing equitable high-quality primary care and increasing mammographic screening coverage could be possible avenues to reduce late-stage cancer at diagnosis and reduce ethnic, socioeconomic, and geographical disparities in stage of breast cancer at diagnosis in Aotearoa.
		Variations in survival for Māori and Pacific females are only found in females with non-screen-detected breast cancer. No differences in stage at diagnosis or survival outcomes were seen for Māori or Pacific females diagnosed via BSA.
Specifications Numerator		Number of people diagnosed by route to detection (BSA-detected vs non-BSA image detected vs symptomatic).
	Denominator	All people newly diagnosed with breast cancer.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 2. Histological grading

Indicator description		Proportion of people with invasive breast cancer and a histological grade of 3.
Rationale and evidence		Nottingham histological grade (1, 2 or 3) of invasive breast cancer (>1 mm in maximum diameter) is one of the most powerful predictors of prognosis in early-stage disease, similar to lymph node status (Elston & Ellis 1991; Rakha et al 2008; Rakha et al 2010). This is particularly true for ER-positive disease, as HER2 over-expressing and triplenegative breast cancers are more likely to be grade 3. In the absence of multigene tests, high grade is currently one of the main indicators for use of adjuvant chemotherapy for hormone-receptor-positive breast cancers.
Equity/Māori health gain		According to the BCFNZ's recent publication using data from Te Rēhita, Māori and Pacific females with breast cancer are more likely to present with grade 2 and 3 invasive carcinoma (77.7% and 82.8% respectively) compared with Asian females (76.9%) and European females (75.9%) (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022).
		That report also highlighted the regional (Auckland, Waikato, Wellington and Christchurch) range of grade 3 breast cancers (20.5%–40.1%); the lowest proportions were evident in those regions with highest Māori registrations. Māori females may therefore be at a greater risk of not being offered appropriate chemotherapy. This is likely to also apply to Pacific females.
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people with invasive breast carcinomas and a histological grade of 3.
	Denominator	All people with invasive breast carcinomas.
Notes		The BCFNZ's Te Rēhita data shows there is variation between regions.



BrCQI 3.

Repeat receptor testing of people with first metastatic relapse

Indicator description Rationale and evidence		Proportion of people with first metastatic relapse of breast cancer who undergo biopsy and repeat oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) testing. Changes in receptor testing results can occur between the primary invasive breast carcinoma and subsequent metastases, due, for example, to changes in disease biology (Schrijver et al 2018). Positive and negative receptor expression is used to
		guide decisions on the use of systemic therapy (Van Poznak et al 2015).
Equity/Māori health gain		According to the BCFNZ's recent data publication, making use of data from Te Rēhita, Māori females have lower rates of 5-year and 10-year disease-free survival than European or Asian females, and Pacific females have even lower rates than Māori females (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022). Lower disease-free survival results, in part, from more metastatic disease. If Māori and Pacific females with metastatic disease had cancer treatment more specifically targeted to their current breast cancer biology in accordance with international guidelines (Cardoso et al 2020), they would likely experience better outcomes.
Specifications Numerator Denominator Notes		Number of people with first metastatic relapse who have undergone biopsy with receptor testing performed.
		All people with first metastatic relapse.
		Testing can be undertaken on both histological and cytological specimens with appropriately validated assays.
Measurability		Aspirational.



BrCQI 4. Appropriate staging investigation

Indicator description	 Proportion of people with invasive breast cancer with: A. four or more positive lymph nodes or a tumour size >50 mm who have undergone an appropriate staging investigation B. fewer than four positive lymph nodes and a tumour size ≤50 mm who have not undergone an appropriate staging investigation.
Rationale and evidence	All females with breast cancer should be staged clinically according to the current TNM staging system for carcinoma of the breast, to define the anatomic extent of the disease and facilitate the planning of subsequent management (Edge & Compton 2010). Females with stage III breast cancer or with clinical signs and symptoms or laboratory values indicating the possible presence of metastases should routinely undergo further specialist staging tests if this may affect treatment decisions (Ministry of Health 2009).
	Routine use of specialised staging investigations for females with stage I–III is not indicated. Currently, clinical studies show that the percentage of females with stage I and II disease with asymptomatic metastases detected by staging tests is very low, and the risk of false positive results is much higher. Staging tests are therefore harmful in this setting (Del Turco et al 2010), resulting in unnecessary anxiety and further investigations at cost to both the patient and the health care system.
Equity/Māori health gain	As more Māori and Pacific females have advanced breast cancer at presentation, appropriate use of specialist staging investigations is more likely to result in changes to treatment decisions for these females (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022).

Specifications	Numerator	 Number of people with invasive breast cancer with: A. four or more positive lymph nodes or a tumour size >50 mm who have undergone computed tomography (CT) of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis, +/- bone scan; or contrast enhanced positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET CT) scan. B. a tumour size ≤50 mm and fewer than four positive lymph nodes who have not had CT of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis; PET CT; or bone
	Denominator	 scan. All people with invasive breast cancer with: A. four or more positive lymph nodes or tumour size >50 mm. B. a tumour size ≤50 mm and fewer than four positive lymph nodes.
Notes		
Measurability		Aspirational.



BrCQI 5. Breast-conserving surgery

Treatment - surgery

Indicator description

Rationale and evidence

Proportion of females with breast cancer (invasive and/or ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS)) whose final breast operation is breast conserving surgery (BCS). While BCS is not always possible for or chosen by some females, for those for whom it is an option, there are advantages; however, we acknowledge that individual females may have an experience that

differs from the body of evidence currently available.

BCS is less invasive and less major surgery than mastectomy (especially when the mastectomy is followed by reconstruction, either at the time or subsequently). It is associated with less morbidity and quicker recovery.

BCS operating times are shorter and complication rates lower than with mastectomy, unless more complex oncoplastic procedures are involved. Even where the oncoplastic procedures are more complicated, these are generally quicker and easier than a mastectomy and immediate reconstruction (Stein et al 2020).

There is evidence that females who have had BSC have better self-reported body image and psychosocial scores compared with those who had total mastectomy (Al-Ghazal et al 2000; Hanson et al 2022; Kim et al 2015; Ng et al 2019). However, improved psychosocial outcomes with BCS compared to mastectomy and reconstruction (at 10 years) did not correlate with regret in decision-making around choice of surgery, breast satisfaction or physical wellbeing (Hanson et al 2022).

Radiation therapy on the conserved breast has less of an impact (eg, on surrounding tissue) than it does post mastectomy, with or without immediate reconstruction (Tran et al 2001; Whitfield et al 2009).

Also, there are fewer limitations on patient eligibility for BCS with more complex oncoplastic approaches than the limitations often imposed on immediate reconstruction candidates (eg, for people with a body mass index >35, smoking people and people having radiotherapy) (Ministry of Health 2021).



Equity/Māori he	alth gain	Finally, a common reason that females give for wishing to have mastectomy is their belief that their outcomes will be improved. In fact, the original randomised controlled trials of BCS and radiotherapy compared with mastectomy showed no difference in long-term survival outcomes (EBCTCG 2005), though local recurrence rates were higher with BCS. Observational studies (Abrahimi et al 2021; Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; de Boniface, Szulkin et al 2021; De la Cruz Ku et al 2022) have consistently shown better survival outcomes for BCS and radiotherapy, despite adjustments for known biases, and in particular the later average stage, and the worse biology of breast cancers necessitating mastectomy. The disadvantages of BCS and radiotherapy include the greater risk (approximately 20%) that females will need more than one operation to adequately remove their breast cancer and the need (in most cases) for radiation therapy (which is not typically required for females with earlier stage breast cancers undergoing mastectomy). Breast conservation rates among Māori females are lower than those for New Zealand European females (Campbell et al 2018). One explanation for this is that clinicians usually recommend that females undergoing BCS also undergo radiation therapy, and this can influence their choice, especially if they live further away from the treatment centre. A higher proportion of Māori females live some distance from radiation oncology centres; this has challenges for access (Lilley et al
		2019). Another known factor influencing decision-making is larger average tumour size at diagnosis (Campbell et al 2018), so later diagnosis has a negative equity/health gain impact.
Specifications	Numerator	Number of newly diagnosed people with breast cancer (invasive and/or ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS)) whose final breast operation is breast conserving surgery (BCS).
	Denominator	All newly diagnosed people who have received surgery for their breast cancer (invasive and/or DCIS), including mastectomy and breast-conserving surgery.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 6. Immediate reconstruction at the time of mastectomy

Indicator description	Proportion of people receiving reconstruction at the same time as mastectomy.
Rationale and evidence	With the need for more major surgery; with greater potential for operative complication, longer recovery, and future procedures; or for other personal reasons, many females undergoing mastectomy do not wish to have breast reconstruction.
	Females who choose to have breast reconstruction report a number of psychosocial benefits, including enhanced self-confidence, positive body image, less depression and greater comfort without a prosthesis (Twaddle & Qureshi 2005; Chen et al 2018).
	Immediate reconstruction has the advantage of immediate replacement of a female's breast without requiring the female to return for a second primary breast procedure at some future date. It also offers the possibility for limited or no skin removal, which usually results in better aesthetic outcomes than with delayed reconstruction.
Equity/Māori health gain	Reconstruction rates for Māori females are significantly lower than those for non-Māori females (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; Campbell et al 2018).
	Patient choice is one possible reason for this; however, breast units apply eligibility criteria focused on comorbidities, smoking and body mass index, and these could cause inequities that disproportionally affect Māori and Pacific females because they have higher smoking rates than non-Māori females (Ministry of Health 2021).
	Distance from centres that offer reconstruction can also affect equitable reconstruction rates, due to the impacts of travel on patient and whānau work and lifestyle (Lilley et al 2019; Ministry of Health 2021).



Specifications	Numerator	Number of people who have undergone mastectomy who received immediate reconstruction.
	Denominator	All people who have undergone mastectomy.
Notes		Even with immediate reconstruction, many females require a second operation, including revision of implant or replacement of initial expander, nipple areola reconstruction, tidy-up of dog ears or revision of asymmetry. We may consider the availability of revisional surgery in future QPIs.
Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 7. Delayed reconstruction

possible or practical. These females should have access to delayed reconstruction. Ideally, reconstruction should occur within 12 months of referral, to provide females with the benefits of reconstruction within a reasonable timeframe. Equity/Māori health gain Reconstruction rates for Māori females are significantly lower than those for non-Māori females (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; Campbell et al 2018). Patient choice is one possible reason for this; however, breast units apply eligibility criteria focused on comorbidities, smoking and body mass index, and these could cause inequities that disproportionally affect Māori and Pacific females because they have higher smoking rates than non-Māori females (Ministry of Health 2021). Distance from centres that offer reconstruction can also affect equitable reconstruction rates, due to the impacts of travel on patient and whānau work and lifestyle (Lilley et al 2019; Ministry of Health 2021). Specifications Numerator Number of people who have undergone delayed			
numerous studies have shown improved outcomes from breast reconstruction, where this is possible (Chen et al 2018; Ministry of Health 2021; Yarnold 2009). For many females, immediate reconstruction is not possible or practical. These females should have access to delayed reconstruction. Ideally, reconstruction should occur within 12 months of referral, to provide females with the benefits of reconstruction within a reasonable timeframe. Equity/Māori health gain Reconstruction rates for Māori females are significantly lower than those for non-Māori females (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; Campbell et al 2018). Patient choice is one possible reason for this; however, breast units apply eligibility criteria focused on comorbidities, smoking and body mass index, and these could cause inequities that disproportionally affect Māori and Pacific females because they have higher smoking rates than non-Māori females (Ministry of Health 2021). Distance from centres that offer reconstruction can also affect equitable reconstruction rates, due to the impacts of travel on patient and whānau work and lifestyle (Lilley et al 2019; Ministry of Health 2021). Specifications Numerator Number of people who have undergone delayed breast reconstruction who had their reconstruction operation within 12 months of referral.			delayed reconstruction who have reconstruction
possible or practical. These females should have access to delayed reconstruction. Ideally, reconstruction should occur within 12 months of referral, to provide females with the benefits of reconstruction within a reasonable timeframe. Equity/Māori health gain Reconstruction rates for Māori females are significantly lower than those for non-Māori females (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; Campbell et al 2018). Patient choice is one possible reason for this; however, breast units apply eligibility criteria focused on comorbidities, smoking and body mass index, and these could cause inequities that disproportionally affect Māori and Pacific females because they have higher smoking rates than non-Māori females (Ministry of Health 2021). Distance from centres that offer reconstruction can also affect equitable reconstruction rates, due to the impacts of travel on patient and whānau work and lifestyle (Lilley et al 2019; Ministry of Health 2021). Specifications Numerator Number of people who have undergone delayed breast reconstruction who had their reconstruction operation within 12 months of referral.			numerous studies have shown improved outcomes from breast reconstruction, where this is possible (Chen et al 2018; Ministry of Health 2021; Yarnold
significantly lower than those for non-Māori females (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; Campbell et al 2018). Patient choice is one possible reason for this; however, breast units apply eligibility criteria focused on comorbidities, smoking and body mass index, and these could cause inequities that disproportionally affect Māori and Pacific females because they have higher smoking rates than non-Māori females (Ministry of Health 2021). Distance from centres that offer reconstruction can also affect equitable reconstruction rates, due to the impacts of travel on patient and whānau work and lifestyle (Lilley et al 2019; Ministry of Health 2021). Specifications Numerator Number of people who have undergone delayed breast reconstruction who had their reconstruction operation within 12 months of referral. Denominator All people referred for consideration of delayed			access to delayed reconstruction. Ideally, reconstruction should occur within 12 months of referral, to provide females with the benefits of
however, breast units apply eligibility criteria focused on comorbidities, smoking and body mass index, and these could cause inequities that disproportionally affect Māori and Pacific females because they have higher smoking rates than non-Māori females (Ministry of Health 2021). Distance from centres that offer reconstruction can also affect equitable reconstruction rates, due to the impacts of travel on patient and whānau work and lifestyle (Lilley et al 2019; Ministry of Health 2021). Specifications Numerator Number of people who have undergone delayed breast reconstruction who had their reconstruction operation within 12 months of referral. Denominator All people referred for consideration of delayed	Equity/Māori health gain		significantly lower than those for non-Māori females (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand
also affect equitable reconstruction rates, due to the impacts of travel on patient and whānau work and lifestyle (Lilley et al 2019; Ministry of Health 2021). Specifications Numerator Number of people who have undergone delayed breast reconstruction who had their reconstruction operation within 12 months of referral. Denominator All people referred for consideration of delayed			however, breast units apply eligibility criteria focused on comorbidities, smoking and body mass index, and these could cause inequities that disproportionally affect Māori and Pacific females because they have higher smoking rates than non-
breast reconstruction who had their reconstruction operation within 12 months of referral. Denominator All people referred for consideration of delayed			the impacts of travel on patient and whānau work and lifestyle (Lilley et al 2019; Ministry of Health
	Specifications	Numerator	breast reconstruction who had their reconstruction
		Denominator	
Notes The intention of this QPI is to identify whether females needing delayed reconstruction are receiving it, and, within a reasonable timeframe.	Notes		females needing delayed reconstruction are receiving it, and, within a reasonable timeframe.
Measurability Measurable.	Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 8. Single surgery

Indicator description	Proportion of people undergoing breast-conserving surgery who received an additional (breast) operation or operations to ensure adequate excision of the primary tumour.
Rationale and evidence	Adequate excision of a cancer is important to minimise local recurrence and optimise survival (Houssami et al 2014).
	Returning to theatre for second and third operations can result in anxiety for females and incur additional morbidity, cost, and use of resources. Additionally, re-excisions frequently result in worse cosmetic outcomes.
	Wide geographic variation in re-excision rates has been found in the United Kingdom (Jeevan et al 2012).
	Reoperation rates are higher in females with DCIS with or without invasive breast cancer, because most DCIS is impalpable, making clinical assessment of margin adequacy in the operating theatre more difficult, and because 2 mm minimum margins for DCIS are widely recommended (Breast SurgANZ 2018; BreastSurg ANZ 2020).
Equity/Māori health gain	 A second or subsequent surgical procedure has the potential to create inequities in terms of: Negative financial impacts, especially for people from low socioeconomic backgrounds and need additional time off work for the procedure (Ellison-Loschmann et al 2015; Haynes, Pearce, & Barnett 2008; Slater et al 2016; Tanuvasa & Neale 2015). Travel and accommodation impacts, for people who live further away from major surgical centres and need to be away from home, whānau and
	employment (Lawrenson et al 2016; Lilley et al 2019; Masters-Awatere et al 2020; Seneviratne et al 2015). These factors are also linked to appointment non-attendance and declining treatment (Hopley et al 2009; McLeod et al 2011). Breast conservation rates are lower in Māori (Campbell et al 2018).



Specifications	Numerator	Number of people who underwent breast-conserving surgery as their first breast cancer operation and who received an additional (breast) cancer operation (either wider excision or mastectomy) for the primary tumour: • for females with invasive breast cancer only • for females with DCIS or invasive cancer with DCIS. Note: a diagnostic excision or incisional biopsy should not be counted as a cancer operation; nor should an operation on the axilla alone.
	Denominator	All people for whom breast-conserving surgery was the initial cancer resection operation (this does not include cases where the first operation was a diagnostic excision or incisional biopsy).
Notes		Analysis of this QPI will need to use data for a 12- month timeframe, from the patient's first operation, and exclude operations for people with recurrent breast cancer.
Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 9.

Adequate margins of excision for invasive and in situ breast cancer

Indicator description	Proportion of females undergoing BCS who have complete excision of their tumour, with a minimum circumferential margin of 1mm for invasive disease and 2mm for DCIS (with or without invasive component).
Rationale and evidence	Local recurrence after breast-conserving surgery and radiotherapy has steadily decreased over the last 30 years, ultimately leading to North American Guidelines recommending that a margin of 'no tumour on ink' is sufficient for all females undergoing BCS and radiation therapy (Moran et al 2014).
	This consensus was based on interpretation of a meta-analysis (Houssami et al 2014) of local recurrence according to the margin threshold used by the reporting unit. Because most females in any reported series have greater margins of excision than the margin threshold for re-excision set by that unit, it was perhaps not surprising that significant differences in local recurrence were not seen using this criterion.
	A subsequent meta-analysis by actual margin of excision (Shah et al 2020) and an analysis of the New Breast Cancer Register data (Campbell et al 2019) have both shown that local recurrence after breast-conserving surgery is reduced by larger margins of clearance (Shah et al 2018). Both studies show this reduction is significant for margins of 1 mm or more compared with narrower margins. One meta-analysis shows that modern local recurrence rates are on average very low but is unable to assess variation by patient factors such as age or tumour factors such as grade and tumour subtype, or by adjuvant treatments given (Shah et al 2020).
	The Campbell 2019 analysis suggests that while a margin of 'no tumour on ink' may be adequate for older females with strongly hormone receptor



		positive breast cancers who take endocrine therapy and have radiation therapy, larger margins should be achieved for females of young age, or with higher grade or worse biology breast cancers. Because the appropriate margin of excision to achieve reasonably low rates of local recurrence requires consideration of multiple factors, this QPI does not seek to set a minimum standard for margin but does seek to determine that at least a significant proportion of females do receive excision with more than a margin of 'no tumour on ink'. Less debate exists for DCIS, where a 2 mm or greater margin is widely adopted (Marinovich et al 2016).
Equity/Māori hea	lth gain	No data available.
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people who have undergone breast-conserving surgery who had complete excision of their tumour with a minimum circumferential margin of 1mm for invasive disease and 2mm for DCIS (with or without invasive component).
	Denominator	All people who have undergone breast-conserving surgery.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable using Te Rēhita.



BrCQI 10. Metastatic breast cancer seen by medical oncologist

Indicator description		Proportion of people with metastatic breast cancer (MBC) seen by a medical oncologist
Rationale and evidence		Systemic therapy improves survival for people with MBC (Cardoso et al 2020). However, BCFNZ's report 'I'm still here': Insights into living and dying with advanced breast cancer in New Zealand (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2018) identified that a median of 23% of New Zealand people with MBC do not receive any systemic therapy.
Equity/Māori health gain		Māori and Pacific females are less likely to be treated with chemotherapy (Tin Tin et al 2018), and the 'I'm still here' report (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2018) identified that Māori females' median survival with MBC is worse than that of non-Māori.
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people with MBC who had a medical oncology first specialist assessment.
Denominator		All people with MBC.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable using national collections.



BrCQI 11. Chemotherapy with or without Trastuzumab

Indicator description		Proportion of people:
		A. with triple-negative early breast cancer (EBC), with a tumour >1 cm or node-positive who received chemotherapy
		B. with HER2-positive EBC, with a tumour >1 cm or node-positive who received chemotherapy and trastuzumab.
Rationale and evidence		Data from the EBCTCG demonstrates the improvement in breast cancer outcomes for ERnegative tumours achieved by adjuvant chemotherapy (EBCTCG 2005; EBCTCG 2008). The addition of trastuzumab to adjuvant chemotherapy improves survival (Bradley et al 2021). Use of chemotherapy in the stage I–III population is endorsed in international guidelines (Burstein et al 2019; Denduluri et al 2021).
Equity/Māori health gain		Māori and Pacific females have inferior breast cancer-specific survival rates and more HER2-positive cancers (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022). We expect that increased provision of systemic therapy in these breast cancer subgroups would improve outcomes (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022).
Specifications	Numerator	 A. Number of people with triple-negative stage I– III breast cancer with a tumour >1 cm or node-positive who received chemotherapy. B. Number of people with HER2-positive stage I–III breast cancer with a tumour >1 cm or node-positive who received chemotherapy and trastuzumab.
	Denominator	 A. All people with triple-negative stage I-III breast cancer with a tumour >1 cm or node-positive. B. All people with HER2-positive stage I-III breast cancer with a tumour >1 cm or node-positive.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable using Te Rēhita.



BrCQI 12. Endocrine therapy for metastatic breast cancer

Indicator description		Proportion of people with hormone-receptor- positive, HER2-negative MBC treated with endocrine therapy with or without cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitor in first line (as opposed to chemotherapy).
Rationale and evidence		First-line systemic therapy for ER-positive, HER2- negative MBC with endocrine therapy, with or without CDK 4/6 inhibitors, leads to at least equivalent survival outcomes, is associated with better quality of life and is strongly recommended in international guidelines (Cardoso et al 2012; Cardoso et al 2020). It is more convenient for people and uses less resource.
		Pathologic complete response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy also offers useful prognostic information for an individual patient (Cortazar et al 2014).
Equity/Māori health gain		Māori and Pacific females are more likely to present with MBC, and Māori females are more likely to have the higher-risk hormone-receptor-positive, HER2-negative subtype (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; Tin Tin et al 2018).
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people with hormone-receptor-positive, HER2-negative breast cancer whose first systemic therapy for metastatic disease is endocrine therapy with or without CDK 4/6 inhibitor.
	Denominator	All people with hormone-receptor-positive, HER2- negative metastatic disease treated with first-line systemic therapy (either chemotherapy or endocrine therapy with or without CDK 4/6 inhibitor).
Notes		In visceral crisis, chemotherapy is preferred.
Measurability		Aspirational.



BrCQI 13. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy

Indicator description		Proportion of people with stage II or III breast cancer who are either triple negative or HER2-positive and receive neoadjuvant chemotherapy, including neoadjuvant trastuzumab.
Rationale and evidence		People with HER2-positive and triple-negative breast cancer have the best responses to neoadjuvant chemotherapy, with pathologic complete responses ranging from 30 to 60% (Cortazar et al 2014). Pathologic complete response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy is used to stratify subsequent systemic therapy, which has the potential to significantly improve overall survival and freedom from distant recurrence. Tumour downstaging may also enable BCS/improved cosmetic outcome in people where mastectomy would otherwise have been necessary.
Equity/Māori health gain		(Tin Tin et al 2018) found that Māori and Pacific females were less likely to be diagnosed through screening and more likely to present with later stage at diagnosis. They also found that Māori and Pacific females were less likely to receive BCS, even after adjusting for stage at diagnosis, and Pacific females were less likely to receive chemotherapy. Increasing rates of neoadjuvant chemotherapy would allow more Māori and Pacific people to achieve breast conservation (Tin Tin et al 2018).
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people with triple-negative or HER2- positive stage II or III breast cancer (>2 cm and/or clinically node-positive) treated with chemotherapy before breast cancer surgery.
	Denominator	All people with triple-negative or HER2-positive stage II or III breast cancer (>2 cm and/or clinically node-positive) treated with chemotherapy (adjuvant and neoadjuvant).
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable using Te Rēhita.

BrCQI 14. Adjuvant endocrine therapy adherence

Indicator description		Proportion of females with endocrine-sensitive stage I-III breast cancer who complete two years of endocrine therapy (after first script dispensed). Measure: proportion still being dispensed endocrine therapy at: A. 6 months B. 12 months C. 24 months.
Rationale and evidence		Adjuvant endocrine therapy significantly increases disease-free survival and reduces mortality (EBCTCG 2005), and this benefit increases over time (EBCTCG 1998). In 2015, Seneviratne et al found that only 70.4% of females adhered to endocrine therapy in year one, and this declined to 59.3% by the fifth year of treatment (Seneviratne et al 2015).
Equity/Māori health gain		(Seneviratne et al 2015) found that Māori females had low rates of adherence to endocrine therapy. These low rates were associated with a higher risk of breast cancer mortality and recurrence. Being unable to adhere to adjuvant endocrine therapy was a likely contributor to breast cancer mortality inequity.
Specifications	Numerator	Of people initially dispensed endocrine therapy, the number of people with an adherence index of ≥80 % at 6, 12 and 24 months. Adherence index = (number of days covered by prescriptions/total number of days in treatment period) x 100%.
	Denominator	All stage I-III people dispensed adjuvant endocrine therapy.



Notes	The consensus is that having ≥80% of time covered by prescriptions represents the most readily measurable indicator of adherence. However, the accuracy of measurement of adherence is questionable (Chirgwin et al 2016). The majority of non-adherence is related to access to care, and negative side-effects of treatment; therefore, increasing support has the potential to increase adherence.
	Publicly funded endocrine therapy drugs include tamoxifen, exemestane, letrozole and anastrozole (with or without goserelin).
Measurability	Measurable.



BrCQI 15. Adjuvant radiation therapy following breast-conserving surgery

Treatment – localised therapy (radiation therapy)

Indicator description		Proportion of people receiving adjuvant radiation therapy to the breast after BCS for invasive breast cancer.
Rationale and evidence		People with breast cancer should receive adjuvant radiation therapy after BCS. Post-operative radiation therapy decreases the local recurrence risk and increases long-term survival (Darby et al 2011).
Equity/Māori health gain		(Seneviratne et al 2017) found that Māori females were less likely to receive adjuvant radiation therapy than New Zealand European females.
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people whose final operation for invasive breast cancer was a form of BCS who have received radiation therapy.
	Denominator	All people with invasive breast cancer whose final operation for invasive breast cancer was a form of BCS.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 16. Adjuvant radiation therapy following mastectomy

Treatment – localised therapy (radiation therapy)

Indicator description	Proportion of post-mastectomy people receiving adjuvant radiation therapy
Rationale and evidence	Post-mastectomy radiation therapy improves survival and reduces recurrence in people at increased risk of these events. Data from the EBCTCG suggests that post-mastectomy radiation therapy is beneficial in
	females who have a 20% or greater risk of local recurrence at 10 years (EBCTCG 2014). After mastectomy and axillary dissection, radiation therapy reduced both recurrence and breast cancer
	mortality in females with 1–3 positive lymph nodes even when systemic therapy was given (EBCTCG 2014).
	In a 2016 statement, the American Society of Clinical Oncology and the American Society for Radiation Oncology (Recht et al 2016) stated:
	'Postmastectomy radiotherapy (PMRT) reduces the risks of locoregional failure (LRF), any recurrence, and breast cancer mortality for people with T1-2 breast cancer with 1–3 positive axillary nodes. However, some subsets of these people are likely to have such a low risk of LRF that the absolute benefit of PMRT is outweighed by its potential toxicities. In addition, the acceptable ratio of benefit to toxicity varies
	among people and physicians. Thus, the decision to recommend PMRT requires a great deal of clinical judgment. The panel agreed clinicians making such recommendations for individual people should consider factors that may decrease the risk of LRF, attenuate the benefit of reduced breast cancer–specific mortality,
	and/or increase risk of complications resulting from PMRT.'



Equity/Māori health gain		(Seneviratne et al 2017) found that Māori females were less likely to receive adjuvant radiation therapy than New Zealand European females.
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people who have undergone mastectomy and received adjuvant radiation therapy.
	Denominator	All people who have undergone mastectomy.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 17. Use of cardiac sparing radiation therapy

Treatment – localised therapy (radiation therapy)

Indicator description		Proportion of people with left-sided breast cancer or DCIS receiving adjuvant radiation therapy treatment with use of a cardiac sparing radiation therapy treatment technique.
Rationale and evidence		Excess cardiac toxicity is associated with left-sided radiation therapy. (Darby et al 2013) found that rates of major coronary events increased linearly with the mean dose to the heart by 7.4% per gray. The deep inspiration breath hold technique reduces the cardiac dose, the projected increased risk of heart disease and the projected percentage increase in the rate of major coronary events (Hayden et al 2012).
Equity/Māori health ga	in	No data available.
Specifications Numerator	Number of people with left-sided breast cancer or DCIS who have received radiation therapy and have received adjuvant radiation therapy treatment using a cardiac sparing radiation therapy treatment technique.	
Denominator		All people with left-sided breast cancer or DCIS who have received adjuvant radiation therapy treatment.
Notes		
Measurability		Aspirational.



BrCQI 18. Use of five-fraction breast prescription received

Treatment – localised therapy (radiation therapy)

Indicator description	Proportion of adjuvant breast and chest wall only people receiving a five-fraction prescription.
Rationale and evidence	Until recently, 15-fraction prescriptions were standard. However, due to recent evidence, five-fraction prescriptions are becoming more common. Five-fraction radiation therapy provides benefits in terms of patient convenience (including fewer treatments and a shorter treatment duration) and departmental resources, with equivalent five-year local control and toxicity compared to 15-fractions (Brunt et al 2020). People who live a long distance from radiation oncology centres particularly benefit from receiving five-fraction rather than 15-fraction prescriptions, because this represents reduced time away from family and support, reduced travel costs and reduced time off work.
Equity/Māori health gain	(Lawrenson et al 2016) found that rural females aged 60 and over are older (10.4% to 25.4%) were more likely to receive a diagnosis of invasive breast cancer than urban females (8.6% to 22.6%). There are proportionately more rural Māori females who receive a diagnosis of invasive breast cancer (13.2%) than urban Māori females (8.7%).
	Rural Māori females had inferior breast cancerspecific survival and all-cause survival at 10 years, at 72.1% and 55.8% respectively, compared to urban Māori females (77.9% and 64.9% respectively). Given a higher proportion of Māori females live some distance from radiation oncology centres and therefore have reduced access, shorter treatment schedules may be of particular benefit to this population (Lilley et al 2019).
Specifications Numerator	Number of people who have received breast and chest wall only adjuvant radiation therapy and have received a five-fraction prescription.



	Denominator	All people who have received adjuvant breast and chest wall only adjuvant radiation therapy.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable using Te Rēhita.



BrCQI 19. Overall and relative survival

Indicator description	A. Overall survival at 5 and 10 years from diagnosis.B. Relative survival at 5 and 10 years from diagnosis.
Rationale and evidence	Survival is the most important outcome for people with breast cancer. Five-year and ten-year survival are important measures in breast cancer, as a high proportion of distant recurrences and deaths occur more than five years after initial diagnosis. For ERpositive breast cancer (approximately 85% of diagnoses), distant recurrences occur at a steady rate for up to 20 years (Pan et al 2017). Measuring relative survival is important, to give an indication of what proportion of deaths are due to breast cancer as opposed to other causes.
Equity/Māori health gain	Māori are twice as likely to die from cancer as non-Māori (Te Aho o Te Kahu 2021). One frequently proposed explanation for the observed survival differences between Māori and non-Māori is differential stage at diagnosis – Māori are less likely to be diagnosed at an earlier stage, when treatment is more feasible, and outcomes are better for the patient (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; Brewer et al 2012; Robson et al 2010; Tin Tin et al 2018). The BCFNZ has reported that 10-year and 5-year breast cancer-specific survival has improved over time for all ethnicities (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022). However, survival is lower for Māori and Pacific females compared to New Zealand European females. After adjusting for age, Māori females were 33% and Pacific females 52% more likely to die of breast cancer compared with New Zealand European females across the 2003–2020 reporting period (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022). Information on difference in survival by ethnicities would clarify the degree of inequity. This could potentially lead to increased research and funding and thereby drive health gains for Māori.



Specifications	Numerator	A. Number of people surviving at 5 and 10 years from diagnosis.B. Overall survival at 5 and 10 years from diagnosis.
	Denominator	A. All people diagnosed with invasive breast cancer.B. Overall survival for a similar breast cancer-free population.
Notes		The steady rate of distant recurrences up to 20 years from diagnosis means there should be an aspirational QPI to measure survival out to 20 years, as complete, high-quality data becomes available. It is likely that survival disparities by ethnicity will be more marked at 20 years.
		Breast cancer survival varies widely by subtype, and survival differences between subtypes are greater at 10 years than at 5 years. Overall and relative survival by subtype are aspirational aims for this indicator.
Measurability		Measurable using national collections.



BrCQI 20. Metastatic breast cancer survival

Indicator description	A. Median overall survival from metastatic diagnosis.
	B. Overall survival at 1, 2, 5 and 10 years from metastatic diagnosis.
	All people and by subtype:
	C. hormone-receptor-positive, HER-negative subtype
	D. hormone-receptor-negative, HER2-negative (triple-negative) subtype
	E. hormone-receptor-positive, HER2-positive subtype
	F. hormone-receptor-negative, HER2-positive subtype.
Rationale and evidence	Over the last decade, as new, life-extending therapies have become available, the life expectancy of people with MBC has greatly improved. Internationally, there is a trend toward viewing MBC as a condition with which people can live for a prolonged period. In 2018, the Advanced Breast Cancer Global Alliance set a goal of doubling median MBC survival by 2025 (Cardoso et al 2018).
Equity/Māori health gain	In 2018, BCFNZ identified that Māori females' median survival with MBC is worse than that of non-Māori, and 5-year survival for Māori is significantly worse (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2018).
	More information about MBC survival rates by ethnicity would provide us with greater understanding about inequities. This could inform and promote change in practice and health gains for Māori.
Specifications Numerator	A. Time from diagnosis of MBC until 50% of people with MBC are still alive.
	B. Number of people surviving at 1, 2, 5 and 10 years from metastatic diagnosis.



	Denominator	A. No denominator.B. Number of people diagnosed with MBC.
Notes		
Measurability		Aspirational.



BrCQI 21.

Multidisciplinary discussion for early and metastatic breast cancer

Indicator description		Proportion of people discussed at a multidisciplinary meeting (MDM) prior to treatment of: A. stage I–III breast cancer B. stage IV breast cancer (MBC).
Rationale and evidence		Multidisciplinary care results in better clinical and process outcomes for cancer people (Prades et al 2015). It is associated with improved survival for breast cancer and reduced variation in survival among hospitals (Kesson et al 2012).
Equity/Māori health gain		Māori present with more advanced stage breast cancer at diagnosis than non-Māori (Lawrenson et al 2018; Seneviratne et al 2016). Care for more advanced stage breast cancer is more complex, and MDM discussion typically leads to more personalised specialist care. Increased access to multidisciplinary care would therefore be likely to bring health gains for Māori.
Specifications	Numerator	 A. Number of stage I–III people discussed at an MDM prior to treatment. B. Number of MBC people discussed at an MDM prior to first treatment.
	Denominator	A. All people diagnosed with stage I–III breast cancer.B. All people diagnosed with MBC.
Notes		This QPI will be stratified by stage.
Measurability		Measurable using Te Rēhita.



BrCQI 22.

Completeness of breast data within the New Zealand Cancer Registry

Indicator description		Proportion of people with breast cancer who have hormone receptor status, HER2 status, histological grade and TNM staging recorded in the NZCR.
Rationale and evidence		Receptor status data is necessary to evaluate key breast cancer outcomes, especially for systemic therapy, but also other therapies. Systemic therapy is stratified by breast cancer subtype, according to hormone and HER2 receptor status, and by stage (Waks & Winer 2019). Cancer stage and histological grade are also important determinants of treatment, and necessary for useful interpretation of other major breast cancer treatment and outcomes, such as overall survival.
Equity/Māori health gain		To constructively assess inequities, particularly about systemic therapy, we require more national data on breast cancer stage and receptor status. This information could lead to changes in breast cancer practice and health gains for those currently receiving inequitable cancer diagnosis and treatment.
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people with a breast cancer diagnosis recorded in the NZCR with: A. ER status recorded B. PR status recorded C. HER2 status recorded D. TNM stage recorded E. histological grade recorded.
	Denominator	All people with a breast cancer diagnosis recorded in the NZCR.
Notes		The TNM stage is from the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging system version 8, anatomic stage (Ibis, et al 2018).
Measurability		Measurable using national collections.



BrCQI 23. Timely diagnosis

Investigation, diagnosis and staging – timeliness

Indicator description		Proportion of people for whom time from referral to diagnosis of breast cancer is within 28 days.
Rationale and evidence		The most common routes to diagnosis for breast cancer are through general practice referral and screening. A small proportion of people are diagnosed through other referral routes (for example, other outpatient, unplanned or planned admission routes), but rarely via emergency presentation (Danckert et al 2021; Elliss-Brookes et al 2012). The optimal timeframe from referral to diagnosis for cancer is within 28 days (Miles & Asbridge 2019).
Equity/Māori health gain		In terms of breast cancer diagnoses, key barriers, especially for Māori and Pacific females, are in accessing primary health care (eg, because of cost, inability to get a suitably timed appointment, the need to take time off work or fear) (Ellison-Loschmann et a, 2015). Māori and Pacific peoples experience longer delays in seeing a specialist care provider (Ellison-Loschmann et al 2015).
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people diagnosed within 28 days from referral. This time period is measured as:
		A. for BSA-detected females, the date of the outcome of the screening mammogram, to the date of diagnostic biopsy (including cytological procedure).
		B. for females with non-BSA image detected breast cancer, the date of the initial abnormal imaging to the date of diagnostic biopsy (including cytological procedure).
		C. for symptomatic females, the date of the receipt of specialist referral to the date of diagnostic biopsy (including cytological procedure).
	Denominator	All people diagnosed in each category (A, B or C, to match numerator).
Notes		This indicator applies to all people diagnosed with breast cancer irrespective of their referral route.
		This is an important indicator in terms of equity.
Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 24. Time to surgery

Treatment – surgery – timeliness

Indicator description	Proportion of females treated with surgery (excluding females having neoadjuvant chemotherapy² or neoadjuvant endocrine therapy) within: A. six weeks of decision to treat with breast surgery (excluding females whose first surgery was a mastectomy with immediate reconstruction). B. eight weeks of decision to treat with breast surgery and undergoing mastectomy with immediate reconstruction as their first surgery.
Rationale and evidence	Excessive delay to surgery causes anxiety and may result in worse cancer outcomes (Hanna et al 2020). Females considering immediate reconstruction face added complexity in the treatment decision-making process. The pros and cons of additional surgery over cancer resection, and of the different reconstruction options, need to be communicated and considered. This frequently requires additional consultations, and often referral to another service (eg, plastic surgery). The two weeks' difference in the indicator reflects the fact that the decision to also undergo immediate reconstruction requires more thinking time, and often referral to another service (eg, regional plastic surgery services).
Equity/Māori health gain	Māori females experience longer median wait times for surgery (Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand 2022; Seneviratne et al 2015; Tin Tin et al 2018). Reporting this QPI by ethnicity will assist us to identify this inequity and work to resolve it.

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ Chemotherapy includes chemotherapy, biological and targeted therapy



Specifications	Numerator	 Number of people who received their first surgical treatment for breast cancer within: A. six weeks of being placed on the waiting list for surgery B. eight weeks of being placed on the waiting list for surgery, for females having immediate breast reconstruction. This excludes females having neoadjuvant chemotherapy or neoadjuvant endocrine therapy.
	Denominator	All people who have had breast surgery.
Notes		In terms of neoadjuvant endocrine therapy, the intent should be at least three months of treatment with a view to the treatment having a significant effect on the cancer – not short-term temporising treatment to reduce anxiety for the patient and surgeon because of a delay in accessing surgery, or to meet timeliness indicators. Short-term treatment is not a standard evidence-based strategy.
Measurability		Measurable.



BrCQI 25. Adjuvant chemotherapy

Systemic therapy – timeliness

Indicator description		Percentage of people treated with adjuvant chemotherapy, starting within six weeks of surgery.
Rationale and evidence		Delayed initiation of adjuvant chemotherapy leads to worse outcomes, particularly for triple-negative breast cancer (Cai et al 2020; Tin Tin et al 2018). International guidelines recommend that adjuvant chemotherapy is be commenced within six weeks of surgery (Cancer Council Victoria and Department of Health Victoria 2021).
Equity/Māori health gain		(Tin Tin et al 2018) found that Māori and Pacific females were less likely to be treated in a private care facility and waited significantly longer for their first treatment after diagnosis.
Specifications	Numerator	Number of people treated with adjuvant chemotherapy within six weeks of completion of their last breast or axillary surgery.
	Denominator	All people treated with adjuvant chemotherapy.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable.

BrCQI 26. Access to radiation therapy

Localised therapy (radiation therapy) – timeliness

Indicator description		Proportion of people with invasive cancer who start adjuvant radiation therapy within:
		A. eight weeks of surgery
		B. six weeks of completing adjuvant chemotherapy.
Rationale and evidence		The local recurrence rate is significantly higher in people treated with adjuvant radiation therapy for breast cancer more than 8 weeks after surgery than it is in those treated within 8 weeks of surgery (Huang et al 2003). Similarly, delaying the initiation of radiation
		therapy after completion of adjuvant chemotherapy adversely impacts on survival outcomes (Cao et al 2021; Raphael, Saskin & Singh 2020).
Equity/Māori health gain		Higher proportions of Māori compared with New Zealand European females (39.8% compared to 30.6%) experience delays longer than thresholds for adjuvant radiation therapy (Seneviratne et al 2014).
Specifications	Numerator	A. Number of people who have undergone surgery for invasive breast cancer, but are not receiving adjuvant chemotherapy, who received radiation therapy within eight weeks of completion of their surgery.
		B. Number of people who received adjuvant radiation therapy within six weeks of completing adjuvant chemotherapy.
	Denominator	A. All people who have undergone surgery for invasive breast cancer, but are not receiving adjuvant chemotherapy, who received radiation therapy.
		B. All people who received adjuvant radiotherapy after completing adjuvant chemotherapy.
Notes		
Measurability		Measurable.



APPENDIX 1: WORKING GROUP MEMBERS

In 2023/2024, the National Breast Cancer (QPI) Working Group members were as follows.

Co-chairs

Ian Campbell, professor / oncoplastic breast and general surgeon, University of Auckland

Sarah Barton, medical oncologist, Te Whatu Ora – Capital, Coast and Hutt Valley

Members

Adele Gautier, research and strategic programmes manager, New Zealand Breast Cancer Foundation

Alex Brown, oncoplastic Breast and specialist general surgeon, Te Whatu Ora -Capital, Coast and Hutt Valley

Alison Foster, breast physician, Te Whatu Ora – Capital, Coast and Hutt Valley, Te Whatu Ora – Capital, Coast and Hutt Valley, Bowen Hospital, Wakefield Hospital

Cheryl MacDonald, clinical nurse specialist breast care, Te Whatu Ora – Te Pae Hauora o Ruahine O Tararua MidCentral

Christine Sapwell, consumer representative

Eletha Taylor, oncoplastic breast and general surgeon, Te Whatu Ora – Te Toka Tumai Auckland

Fay Sowerby, consumer representative

Gavin Harris, anatomical pathologist, Canterbury Health Laboratories

Helen Nott, oncology physiotherapy and lymphoedema therapist, Activate Physiotherapy

Karen Spells, nurse practitioner, Te Pūriri o Te Ora, Te Whatu Ora – Te Toka Tumai Auckland

Madeline Wall, breast radiologist and clinical director, Te Whatu Ora – Capital, Coast and Hutt Valley

Marion Kuper, medical oncologist, Te Whatu Ora Waikato – Te Manawa Taki

Melissa James, radiation oncologist, Te Whatu Ora – Waitaha Canterbury

Melissa Warren, nurse consultant, Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand

Natalie James, nurse lead and support programme manager, Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand

Nina Bevin, general practitioner, Westmere Medical Centre, Auckland

Sheridan Wilson, medical oncologist, Te Pūriri o Te Ora, Te Whatu Ora – Te Toka Tumai Auckland



APPENDIX 2: REFERENCES

Abrahimi MS, Elwood M, Lawrenson R, et al. 2021. Associated Factors and Survival Outcomes for Breast Conserving Surgery versus Mastectomy among New Zealand Females with Early-Stage Breast Cancer. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 18(5). DOI: 10.3390/ijerph18052738 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Al-Ghazal SK, Fallowfield L, Blamey RW. 2000. Comparison of psychological aspects and patient satisfaction following breast conserving surgery, simple mastectomy and breast reconstruction. *European Journal of Cancer* 36(15): 1938–43. DOI: 10.1016/s0959-8049(00)00197-0 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Bradley R, Braybrooke J, Gray R, et al. 2021. Trastuzumab for early-stage, HER2-positive breast cancer: a meta-analysis of 13 864 females in seven randomised trials. *The Lancet Oncology* 22(8): 1139–50.

Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand. 2018. 'I'm still here': Insights into living and dying with advanced breast cancer in New Zealand. URL:

https://www.breastcancerfoundation.org.nz/images/assets/21894/1/bcfnz-abc-report-2018-executive-summary.pdf (accessed 30 January 2023).

Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand. 2022. 30,000 voices: Informing a better future for breast cancer in Aotearoa New Zealand. URL:

https://www.breastcancerfoundation.org.nz/what-we-do/advocacy/2022-register-report-launch (accessed 30 January 2023).

Breast SurgANZ. 2018. Breast SurgANZ Quality Audit Report 2018. URL: https://www.surgeons.org/-/media/Project/RACS/surgeons-org/files/morbidity-audits/BQA_Annual_Report_2018.pdf?rev=e335c65f7d7545f7b853abe5fd058f98&hash=D29 02C19C26030651C56C787F76D3617 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Breast SurgANZ. 2020. *Breast SurgANZ Quality Audit Report 2020 - 2021*. URL: https://www.surgeons.org/-/media/Project/RACS/surgeons-org/files/morbidity-audits/BQA-Annual-Report_2020-

2021.pdf?rev=024aa353726d4e74a0d3327982d304fa&hash=0759985903CDFE76EC97FA8BAD CFE2B7 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Brewer N, Zugna D, Daniel R, et al. 2012. Which factors account for the ethnic inequalities in stage at diagnosis and cervical cancer survival in New Zealand? *Cancer Epidemiology* 36(4): e251–e257.

Brunt AM, Haviland JS, Wheatley DA, et al. 2020. Hypofractionated breast radiotherapy for 1 week versus 3 weeks (FAST-Forward): 5-year efficacy and late normal tissue effects results from a multicentre, non-inferiority, randomised, phase 3 trial. *The Lancet* 395(10237) 1613–26. URL:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673620309326 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Burstein HJ, Curigliano G, Loibl S, et al. 2019. Estimating the benefits of therapy for early-stage breast cancer: the St. Gallen International Consensus Guidelines for the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2019. *Annals of Oncology* 30(10): 1541–57.

Cai L, Tong Y, Zhu X, et al. 2020. Prolonged time to adjuvant chemotherapy initiation was associated with worse disease outcome in triple negative breast cancer people. *Scientific Reports* 10(1): 1–11. URL: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-020-64005-4 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Campbell I, Lao C, Blackmore T, et al. 2018. Surgical treatment of early stage breast cancer in the Auckland and Waikato regions of New Zealand. *ANZ Journal of Surgery* 88(12): 1263–8. URL: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ans.14840 (accessed 30 January 2023).



Campbell I, Tawfig E, Edwards M, et al. 2019. When is enough, enough? Margins of excision after breast conservation for Breast Cancer. URL:

https://www.hrc.govt.nz/resources/research-repository/when-enough-enough-margins-excision-after-breast-conservation-breast (accessed 30 January 2023).

Cancer Council Victoria, Department of Health Victoria. 2021. Optimal care pathway for people with breast cancer, second edition. URL:

https://www.cancer.org.au/assets/pdf/breast-cancer-optimal-cancer-care-pathway (accessed 30 January 2023).

Cao L, Xu C, Cai G, et al. 2021. How does the interval between completion of adjuvant chemotherapy and initiation of radiotherapy impact clinical outcomes in operable breast cancer people? *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 28(4): 2155–68. URL: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1245/s10434-020-09026-z (accessed 30 January 2023).

Cardoso F, Costa A, Norton L, et al. 2012. 1st International consensus guidelines for advanced breast cancer (ABC 1). *The Breast* 21(3): 242–52.

Cardoso F, Paluch-Shimon S, Senkus E, et al. 2020. 5th ESO-ESMO international consensus guidelines for advanced breast cancer (ABC 5). *Annals of Oncology* 31(12): 1623–49. URL: https://www.annalsofoncology.org/article/S0923-7534(20)42460-3/fulltext (accessed 30 January 2023).

Cardoso F, Senkus E, Costa A, et al. 2018. 4th ESO-ESMO international consensus guidelines for advanced breast cancer (ABC 4). *Annals of Oncology* 29(8): 1634–57.

Abrahimi MS, Elwood M, Lawrenson R, Campbell I, & Tin Tin S. 2021. Associated Factors and Survival Outcomes for Breast Conserving Surgery versus Mastectomy among New Zealand Women with Early-Stage Breast Cancer. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 18(5). doi:10.3390/ijerph18052738

Al-Ghazal SK, Fallowfield L, & Blamey RW. 2000. Comparison of psychological aspects and patient satisfaction following breast conserving surgery, simple mastectomy and breast reconstruction. *Eur J Cancer*, 36(15), 1938-1943. doi:10.1016/s0959-8049(00)00197-0

Bradley R, Braybrooke J, Gray R, Hills R, Liu Z, Peto R, Pan H. 2021. Trastuzumab for early-stage, HER2-positive breast cancer: a meta-analysis of 13 864 women in seven randomised trials. *The Lancet Oncology*, 22(8), 1139-1150.

Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand. 2018. *Insights into living and dying with advanced breast cancer in New Zealand*. Retrieved from https://www.breastcancerfoundation.org.nz/images/assets/21894/1/bcfnz-abc-report-2018-executive-summary.pdf

Breast Cancer Foundation New Zealand. 2022. 30,000 voices: Informing a better future for breast cancer in Aotearoa New Zealand. Retrieved from https://www.breastcancerfoundation.org.nz/what-we-do/advocacy/2022-register-report-launch

Breast SurgANZ. 2018. *Breast SurgANZ Quality Audit Report 2018*. Retrieved from: https://www.surgeons.org/en/research-audit/morbidity-audits/morbidity-audits-managed-by-racs/breastsurganz-quality-audit/research-reports-publications-consumer-summaries/bga-annual-reports

BreastSurg ANZ. 2020. *Breast SurgANZ Quality Audit Report 2020*. Retrieved from Auckland: https://www.surgeons.org/en/research-audit/morbidity-audits/morbidity-audits-managed-by-racs/breastsurganz-quality-audit/research-reports-publications-consumer-summaries/bga-annual-reports

Brewer N, Zugna D, Daniel R, Borman B, Pearce N, & Richiardi L. 2012. Which factors account for the ethnic inequalities in stage at diagnosis and cervical cancer survival in New Zealand? *Cancer epidemiology*, 36(4), e251-e257.

Brunt AM, Haviland JS, Wheatley DA, Sydenham MA, Alhasso A, Bloomfield DJ, Coles CE. 2020. Hypofractionated breast radiotherapy for 1 week versus 3 weeks (FAST-Forward): 5-



year efficacy and late normal tissue effects results from a multicentre, non-inferiority, randomised, phase 3 trial. *The Lancet, 395*(10237), 1613-1626. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673620309326

Burstein HJ, Curigliano G, Loibl S, Dubsky P, Gnan, M, Poortmans P, Regan M. 2019. Estimating the benefits of therapy for early-stage breast cancer: the St. Gallen International Consensus Guidelines for the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2019. *Annals of Oncology*, 30(10), 1541-1557.

Cai L, Tong Y, Zhu X, Shen K, Zhu J, & Chen X. 2020. Prolonged time to adjuvant chemotherapy initiation was associated with worse disease outcome in triple negative breast cancer patients. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 1-11. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-020-64005-4

Campbell I, Lao C, Blackmore T, Edwards M, Hayes L, Ng A, & Lawrenson R. 2018. Surgical treatment of early stage breast cancer in the Auckland and Waikato regions of New Zealand. *ANZ Journal of Surgery*, 88(12), 1263-1268. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ans.14840

Campbell I, Tawfig E, Edwards M, Dykstra B, Moss D, Harris G, Lawrenson R. 2019. When is enough, enough? Margins of excision after breast conservation for Breast Cancer.

Retrieved from

https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC5894883/#:~:text=Current%20data%20support %20a%20negative,with%20lumpectomy%20and%20radiation%20therapy.

Cancer Council Victoria and Department of Health Victoria. 2021. *Optimal care pathway for people with breast cancer*, 2nd edn. Retrieved from: https://www.cancer.org.au/health-professionals/optimal-cancer-care-pathways

Cao L, Xu C, Cai G, Qi W, Cai R, Wang S, Chen J 2021. How does the interval between completion of adjuvant chemotherapy and initiation of radiotherapy impact clinical outcomes in operable breast cancer patients? *Annals of Surgical Oncology, 28*(4), 2155-2168. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1245/s10434-020-09026-z

Cardoso F, Costa A, Norton L, Cameron D, Cufer T, Fallowfield L, Lin N. 2012. 1st International consensus guidelines for advanced breast cancer (ABC 1). *The Breast, 21*(3), 242-252.

Cardoso F, Paluch-Shimon S, Senkus E, Curigliano G, Aapro M, André F, Biganzoli L. 2020. 5th ESO-ESMO international consensus guidelines for advanced breast cancer (ABC 5). *Annals of Oncology, 31*(12), 1623-1649. Retrieved from https://www.annalsofoncology.org/article/S0923-7534(20)42460-3/fulltext

Cardoso F, Senkus E, Costa A, Papadopoulos E, Aapro M, André F, Bergh J. 2018. 4th ESO–ESMO international consensus guidelines for advanced breast cancer (ABC 4). *Annals of Oncology*, 29(8), 1634-1657.

Chen W, Lv X, Xu X, Gao X, & Wang B. 2018. Meta-analysis for psychological impact of breast reconstruction in patients with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer*, 25(4), 464-469. doi:10.1007/s12282-018-0846-8

Chirgwin JH, Giobbie-Hurder A, Coates AS, Price KN, Ejlertsen B, Debled M, Rabaglio M. 2016. Treatment adherence and its impact on disease-free survival in the Breast International Group 1-98 trial of tamoxifen and letrozole, alone and in sequence. *Journal of Clinical Oncology, 34*(21), 2452. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4962733/

Cortazar P, Zhang L, Untch M, Mehta K, Costantino JP, Wolmark N, Valagussa P. 2014. Pathological complete response and long-term clinical benefit in breast cancer: the CTNeoBC pooled analysis. *The Lancet*, 384(9938), 164-172. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673613624228

Danckert B, Falborg AZ, Christensen NL, Frederiksen H, Lyratzopoulos G, McPhail S, Jensen H. 2021. Routes to diagnosis and the association with the prognosis in patients with cancer–A nationwide register-based cohort study in Denmark. *Cancer epidemiology*,



74, 101983. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877782121001004

Darby, McGale P, Correa C, Taylor C, Arriagada R, Clarke M,Godwin J. 2011. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG). Effect of radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 10,801 women in 17 randomised trials. *Lancet*, 378(9804), 1707-1716.

de Boniface J, Szulkin R, & Johansson ALV. 2021. Survival After Breast Conservation vs Mastectomy Adjusted for Comorbidity and Socioeconomic Status: A Swedish National 6-Year Follow-up of 48 986 Women. *JAMA Surg*, 156(7), 628-637. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2021.1438

De la Cruz Ku G, Karamchandani M, Chambergo-Michilot D, Narvaez-Rojas AR, Jonczyk M, Príncipe-Meneses FS, Chatterjee A. 2022. Does Breast-Conserving Surgery with Radiotherapy have a Better Survival than Mastectomy? A Meta-Analysis of More than 1,500,000 Patients. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 29(10), 6163-6188. doi:10.1245/s10434-022-12133-8

Del Turco MR, Ponti A, Bick U, Biganzoli L, Cserni G, Cutuli B, Kuehn T. 2010. Quality indicators in breast cancer care. *European Journal of Cancer*, 46(13), 2344-2356.

Denduluri N, Somerfield MR, Chavez-MacGregor M, Comander AH, Dayao Z, Eisen A, Hassett MJ. 2021. Selection of optimal adjuvant chemotherapy and targeted therapy for early breast cancer: ASCO guideline update. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 39(6), 685-693. Retrieved from https://ascopubs.org/doi/full/10.1200/JCO.20.02510

Duffy SW, Vulkan D, Cuckle H, Parmar D, Sheikh S, Smith RA, Ellis IO. 2020. Effect of mammographic screening from age 40 years on breast cancer mortality (UK Age trial): final results of a randomised, controlled trial. *The Lancet Oncology, 21*(9), 1165-1172. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32800099/

EBCTCG. 1998. Tamoxifen for early breast cancer: an overview of the randomised trials. *The Lancet*, 351(9114), 1451-1467.

EBCTCG. 2005. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. *The Lancet*, 365(9472), 1687-1717.

EBCTCG. 2008. Adjuvant chemotherapy in oestrogen-receptor-poor breast cancer: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. *The Lancet*, *371*(9606), 29-40.

EBCTCG. 2014. Taylor C Correa C, Cutter D Duane F. et al. Effect of radiotherapy after mastectomy and axillary surgery on 10-year recurrence and 20-year breast cancer mortality: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 8135 women in 22 randomised trials. *Lancet*, 383, 2127-2135.

Edge SB, & Compton CC. 2010. The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, 17(6), 1471-1474.

Ellison-Loschmann L, Firestone R, Aquilina L, McKenzie F, Gray M, & Jeffreys M. 2015. Barriers to and delays in accessing breast cancer care among New Zealand women: disparities by ethnicity. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15(1), 1-8. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12913-015-1050-6

Elliss-Brookes L, McPhail S, Ives A, Greenslade M, Shelton J, Hiom S, & Richards M. 2012. Routes to diagnosis for cancer-determining the patient journey using multiple routine data sets. *British Journal of Cancer*, 107(8), 1220-1226. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/bjc2012408

Elston CW, & Ellis IO. 1991. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology*, 19(5), 403-410. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.1991.tb00229.x



eviq. (2021). Pancreas definitive/neoadjuvant EBRT chemoradiation. Retrieved from https://www.eviq.org.au/radiation-oncology/upper-gastrointestinal/3581-pancreas-definitive-neoadjuvant-ebrt-chemorad

Hanna TP, King WD, Thibodeau S, Jalink M, Paulin GA, Harvey-Jones E, Aggarwal A. 2020. Mortality due to cancer treatment delay: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bmj*, 371. Retrieved from https://www.bmj.com/content/371/bmj.m4087

Hanson SE, Lei X, Roubaud MS, DeSnyder SM, Caudle AS, Shaitelman SF, Smith BD. 2022. Long-term Quality of Life in Patients With Breast Cancer After Breast Conservation vs Mastectomy and Reconstruction. *JAMA Surg*, 157(6), e220631. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2022.0631

Hayden AJ, Rains M, & Tiver K. 2012. Deep inspiration breath hold technique reduces heart dose from radiotherapy for left-sided breast cancer. *Journal of medical imaging and radiation oncology*, 56(4), 464-472. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1754-9485.2012.02405.x

Haynes R, Pearce J, & Barnett R. 2008. Cancer survival in New Zealand: ethnic, social and geographical inequalities. *Social science & medicine*, 67(6), 928-937.

Hopley M, Horsburgh M, & Peri K. 2009. Barriers to accessing specialist care for older people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in rural New Zealand. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, 1(3), 207-214.

Houssami N, Macaskill P, Marinovich ML, & Morrow M. 2014. The association of surgical margins and local recurrence in women with early-stage invasive breast cancer treated with breast-conserving therapy: a meta-analysis. *Ann Surg Oncol, 21*(3), 717-730. doi:10.1245/s10434-014-3480-5

Huang J, Barbera L, Brouwers M, Browman G, & Mackillop WJ. 2003. Does delay in starting treatment affect the outcomes of radiotherapy? A systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 21(3), 555-563. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12560449/

Ibis K, Ozkurt S, Kucucuk S, Yavuz E, & Saip P. 2018. Comparison of pathological prognostic stage and anatomic stage groups according to the updated version of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) breast cancer staging 8th edition. *Medical Science Monitor: International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research*, 24, 3637. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6007150/

Jeevan R, Cromwell D, Trivella M, Lawrence G, Kearins O, Pereira J, Van Der Meulen J. 2012. Reoperation rates after breast conserving surgery for breast cancer among women in England: retrospective study of hospital episode statistics. *Bmj*, 345. Retrieved from https://www.bmj.com/content/345/bmj.e4505.abstract

Kesson EM, Allardice GM, George WD, Burns HJ, & Morrison DS. 2012. Effects of multidisciplinary team working on breast cancer survival: retrospective, comparative, interventional cohort study of 13 722 women. *Bmj*, 344.

Kim MK, Kim T, Moon HG, Jin US, Kim K, Kim J, Noh DY. 2015. Effect of cosmetic outcome on quality of life after breast cancer surgery. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* (*EJSO*), 41(3), 426-432. Retrieved from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0748798314012876

Lawrenson R, Lao C, Campbell I, Harvey V, Seneviratne S, Elwood M, Kuper-Hommel M. 2018. The impact of different tumour subtypes on management and survival of New Zealand women with Stage I-III breast cancer. *NZ Med J, 131*(1475), 51-60. Retrieved from https://journal.nzma.org.nz/journal-articles/the-impact-of-different-tumour-subtypes-on-management-and-survival-of-new-zealand-women-with-stage-i-iii-breast-cancer

Lawrenson R, Lao C, Elwood M, Brown C, Sarfati D, & Campbell I. 2016. Urban rural differences in breast cancer in New Zealand. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 13(10), 1000.



Lilley R, de Graaf B, Koo B, Davie G, Reid P, Dicker B, Branas C. 2019. Geographical and population disparities in timely access to prehospital and advanced level emergency care in New Zealand: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ open*, 9(7), e026026.

Marinovich ML, Azizi L, Macaskill P, Irwig L, Morrow M, Solin LJ, & Houssami N. 2016. The association of surgical margins and local recurrence in women with ductal carcinoma in situ treated with breast-conserving therapy: a meta-analysis. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, 23(12), 3811-3821.

Masters-Awatere B, Murphy S, Helmhout TB, Flavell K, & Cormack D. 2020. National travel assistance entitlements are inaccessible to whānau Māori. *International Perspectives in Psychology*, 9(3), 180-184.

McLeod M, Cormack D, Harris R, Robson B, Sykes P, & Crengle S. 2011. Achieving equitable outcomes for Māori women with cervical cancer in New Zealand: health provider views. *NZ Med J*, 124(1334), 2010-2019.

Miles A, & Asbridge JE. 2019. The NHS Long Term Plan (2019)—is it person-centered? European Journal for Person Centered Healthcare, 7(1), 1-11.

Ministry of Health. 2009. Management of Early Breast Cancer

New Zealand Guidelines Group. Retrieved from https://www.health.govt.nz/publications/management-of-early-breast-cancer-evidence-based-best-practice-guideline

Ministry of Health. 2021. *Breast reconstruction: national guidelines for best practice*. Retrieved from https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/breast-reconstruction-national-guidelines-best-practice

Moran MS, Schnitt SJ, Giuliano AE, Harris JR, Khan SA, Horton J, Morrow M. 2014. Society of Surgical Oncology-American Society for Radiation Oncology consensus guideline on margins for breast-conserving surgery with whole-breast irradiation in stages I and II invasive breast cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 88(3), 553-564. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.11.012

Ng ET, Ang RZ, Tran BX, Ho CS, Zhang Z, Tan W, Ho RC. 2019. Comparing Quality of Life in Breast Cancer Patients Who Underwent Mastectomy Versus Breast-Conserving Surgery: A Meta-Analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 16(24). doi:10.3390/ijerph16244970

Pan H, Gray R, Braybrooke J, Davies C, Taylor C, McGale P, Dowsett M. 2017. 20-year risks of breast-cancer recurrence after stopping endocrine therapy at 5 years. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 377(19), 1836-1846. Retrieved from https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/nejmoa1701830

Prades J, Remue E, Van Hoof E, & Borras JM. 2015. Is it worth reorganising cancer services on the basis of multidisciplinary teams (MDTs)? A systematic review of the objectives and organisation of MDTs and their impact on patient outcomes. *Health Policy*, 119(4), 464-474. Retrieved from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S016885101400236X

Rakha EA, El-Sayed ME, Lee AH, Elston CW, Grainge MJ, Hodi Z, Ellis IO. 2008. Prognostic significance of Nottingham histologic grade in invasive breast carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol*, 26(19), 3153-3158. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.15.5986

Rakha EA, Reis-Filho JS, Baehner F, Dabbs DJ, Decker T, Eusebi V, Ellis IO. 2010. Breast cancer prognostic classification in the molecular era: the role of histological grade. *Breast Cancer Res*, 12(4), 207. doi:10.1186/bcr2607

Raphael M, Saskin R, & Singh S. 2020. Association between waiting time for radiotherapy after surgery for early-stage breast cancer and survival outcomes in Ontario: A population-based outcomes study. *Current Oncology*, 27(2), 216-221. Retrieved from https://www.mdpi.com/1718-7729/27/2/5629

Recht A, Comen EA, Fine RE, Fleming GF, Hardenbergh PH, Ho AY, Morrow M. 2016. Postmastectomy radiotherapy: an american society of clinical oncology, american



society for radiation oncology, and society of surgical oncology focused guideline update. *Practical Radiation Oncology*, 6(6), e219-e234.

Robson B, Cormack D, & Purdie G. 2010. *Unequal impact II: Māori and non-Māori cancer statistics by deprivation and rural-urban status 2002-2006*: Te Rōpū Rangahu Hauora a Eru Pōmare, University of Otago, Wellington.

Schrijver WA, Suijkerbuijk KP, Van Gils CH, Van Der Wall E, Moelans CB, & Van Diest PJ. 2018. Receptor conversion in distant breast cancer metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 110(6), 568-580.

Seneviratne, Campbell I, Scott N, Kuper-Hommel M, Kim B, Pillai A, & Lawrenson R. 2015. Adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy: is it a factor for ethnic differences in breast cancer outcomes in New Zealand? *The Breast*, 24(1), 62-67. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0960977614002161

Seneviratne S, Campbell I, Scott N, Coles C, & Lawrenson R. 2015. Treatment delay for Māori women with breast cancer in New Zealand. *Ethnicity & health*, 20(2), 178-193. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13557858.2014.895976

Seneviratne S, Campbell I, Scott N, Kuper-Hommel M, Round G, & Lawrenson R. 2014. Ethnic differences in timely adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy for breast cancer in New Zealand: a cohort study. *BMC cancer*, 14(1), 1-9.

Seneviratne S, Lawrenson R, Harvey V, Ramsaroop R, Elwood M, Scott N, Campbell I. 2016. Stage of breast cancer at diagnosis in New Zealand: impacts of socio-demographic factors, breast cancer screening and biology. *BMC cancer*, 16(1), 1-9.

Shah C, Hobbs BP, Vicini F, Al-Hilli Z, Manyam BV, Verma V, Recht A. 2020. The Diminishing Impact of Margin Definitions and Width on Local Recurrence Rates following Breast-Conserving Therapy for Early-Stage Invasive Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 27(12), 4628-4636. doi:10.1245/s10434-020-08878-9

Shah C, Verma V, Sayles H, Recht A, & Vicini F. 2018. Appropriate margins for breast conserving surgery in patients with early stage breast cancer: a meta-analysis. Paper presented at the Cancer Research.

Slater T, Matheson A, Davies C, Goodyer C, Holdaway M, & Ellison-Loschmann L. 2016. The role and potential of community-based cancer care for Māori in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *NZ Med J, 129*(1430), 29-38.

Stein MJ, Karir A, Arnaout A, Roberts A, Cordeiro E, Zhang T, & Zhang J. 2020. Quality-of-Life and Surgical Outcomes for Breast Cancer Patients Treated with Therapeutic Reduction Mammoplasty Versus Mastectomy with Immediate Reconstruction. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 27(11), 4502-4512. doi:10.1245/s10434-020-08574-8

Tanuvasa AF, & Neale J. 2015. Evaluation of Pacific cancer care navigation patient facilitation and support service. *Evaluation Journal of Australasia*, 15(3), 30-36.

Te Aho o Te Kahu. 2021. He Pūrongo Mate Pukupuku o Aotearoa 2020, The State of Cancer in New Zealand 2020. Retrieved from https://teaho.govt.nz/publications/cancer-state

Tin Tin S, Elwood JM, Brown C, Sarfati D, Campbell I, Scot, N, Lawrenson R. 2018. Ethnic disparities in breast cancer survival in New Zealand: which factors contribute? *BMC cancer*, 18(1), 1-10.

Tran NV, Chang DW, Gupta A, Kroll SS, & Robb GL. 2001. Comparison of immediate and delayed free TRAM flap breast reconstruction in patients receiving postmastectomy radiation therapy. *Plast Reconstr Surg*, 108(1), 78-82. doi:10.1097/00006534-200107000-00013

Twaddle S, & Qureshi S. 2005. Scottish intercollegiate guidelines network. Evidence-Based Healthcare and Public Health, 6(9), 405-409.

Van Poznak C, Somerfield MR, Bast RC, Cristofanilli M, Goetz M, Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Lucas W. 2015. Use of biomarkers to guide decisions on systemic therapy for women with metastatic breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice



Guideline. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 33(24), 2695. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5478102/

Waks AG, & Winer EP. 2019. Breast cancer treatment: a review. *Jama*, 321(3), 288-300. Retrieved from https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/article-abstract/2721183

Whitfield GA, Horan G, Irwin MS, Malata CM, Wishart GC, & Wilson CB. 2009. Incidence of severe capsular contracture following implant-based immediate breast reconstruction with or without postoperative chest wall radiotherapy using 40 Gray in 15 fractions. *Radiother Oncol*, 90(1), 141-147. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2008.09.023

Yarnold J. 2009. Early and locally advanced breast cancer: diagnosis and treatment National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence guideline 2009. *Clinical Oncology*, 21(3), 159-160. Retrieved from https://www.clinicaloncologyonline.net/article/S0936-6555(09)00004-1/fulltext

Chirgwin JH, Giobbie-Hurder A, Coates AS, et al. 2016. Treatment adherence and its impact on disease-free survival in the Breast International Group 1-98 trial of tamoxifen and letrozole, alone and in sequence. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 34(21): 2452. URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4962733/ (accessed 30 January 2023).

Cortazar P, Zhang L, Untch M, et al. 2014. Pathological complete response and long-term clinical benefit in breast cancer: the CTNeoBC pooled analysis. *The Lancet* 384(9938): 164–72. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673613624228 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Danckert B, Falborg AZ, Christensen NL, et al. 2021. Routes to diagnosis and the association with the prognosis in people with cancer—A nationwide register-based cohort study in Denmark. *Cancer Epidemiology* 74: 101983. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877782121001004 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Darby S, Ewertz M, McGale P, et al. 2013. Risk of ischemic heart disease in females after radiotherapy for breast cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 368(11): 987–98. URL: https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/nejmoa1209825 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Darby S, McGale P, Correa C, et al. 2011. Effect of radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 10,801 females in 17 randomised trials. *Lancet* 378(9804): 1707–16.

de Boniface J, Szulkin R, Johansson ALV. 2021. Survival After Breast Conservation vs Mastectomy Adjusted for Comorbidity and Socioeconomic Status: A Swedish National 6-Year Follow-up of 48 986 Females. *JAMA Surgery* 156(7): 628–37. DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2021.1438 (accessed 30 January 2023).

De la Cruz Ku G, Karamchandani M, Chambergo-Michilot D, et al. 2022. Does Breast-Conserving Surgery with Radiotherapy have a Better Survival than Mastectomy? A Meta-Analysis of More than 1,500,000 People. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 29(10): 6163–88. DOI: 10.1245/s10434-022-12133-8 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Del Turco MR, Ponti A, Bick U, et al. 2010. Quality indicators in breast cancer care. *European Journal of Cancer* 46(13): 2344–56.

Denduluri N, Somerfield MR, Chavez-MacGregor M, et al. 2021. Selection of optimal adjuvant chemotherapy and targeted therapy for early breast cancer: ASCO guideline update. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 39(6): 685–93. URL: https://ascopubs.org/doi/full/10.1200/JCO.20.02510 (accessed 30 January 2023).

EBCTCG. 1998. Tamoxifen for early breast cancer: an overview of the randomised trials. *The Lancet* 351(9114): 1451–67.

EBCTCG. 2005. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. *The Lancet* 365(9472): 1687–1717.



EBCTCG. 2008. Adjuvant chemotherapy in oestrogen-receptor-poor breast cancer: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. *The Lancet* 371(9606): 29–40.

Edge SB, Compton CC. 2010. The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 17(6): 1471–4.

Ellison-Loschmann L, Firestone R, Aquilina L, et al. 2015. Barriers to and delays in accessing breast cancer care among New Zealand females: disparities by ethnicity. *BMC Health Services Research* 15(1): 1–8. URL:

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12913-015-1050-6 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Elliss-Brookes L, McPhail S, Ives A, et al. 2012. Routes to diagnosis for cancerdetermining the patient journey using multiple routine data sets. *British Journal of Cancer* 107(8): 1220–6. URL: https://www.nature.com/articles/bjc2012408 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Elston CW, Ellis IO. 1991. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. *Histopathology* 19(5): 403–10. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.1991.tb00229.x (accessed 30 January 2023).

Hanna TP, King WD, Thibodeau S, et al. 2020. Mortality due to cancer treatment delay: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 371. URL:

https://www.bmj.com/content/371/bmj.m4087 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Hanson SE, Lei X, Roubaud MS, et al. 2022. Long-term Quality of Life in People With Breast Cancer After Breast Conservation vs Mastectomy and Reconstruction. *JAMA Surgery* 157(6): e220631. DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2022.0631 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Hayden AJ, Rains M, Tiver K. 2012. Deep inspiration breath hold technique reduces heart dose from radiotherapy for left-sided breast cancer. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Oncology* 56(4): 464–72. URL:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1754-9485.2012.02405.x (accessed 30 January 2023).

Haynes R, Pearce J, Barnett R. 2008. Cancer survival in New Zealand: ethnic, social and geographical inequalities. *Social Science & Medicine* 67(6): 928–37.

Hopley M, Horsburgh M, Peri K. 2009. Barriers to accessing specialist care for older people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in rural New Zealand. *Journal of Primary Health Care* 1(3): 207–14.

Houssami N, Macaskill P, Marinovich ML, et al. 2014. The association of surgical margins and local recurrence in females with early-stage invasive breast cancer treated with breast-conserving therapy: a meta-analysis. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 21(3): 717–30. DOI: 10.1245/s10434-014-3480-5 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Huang J, Barbera L, Brouwers M, et al. 2003. Does delay in starting treatment affect the outcomes of radiotherapy? A systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 21(3): 555–63. URL: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12560449/ (accessed 30 January 2023).

Jeevan R, Cromwell D, Trivella M, et al. 2012. Reoperation rates after breast conserving surgery for breast cancer among females in England: retrospective study of hospital episode statistics. *BMJ* 345. URL: https://www.bmj.com/content/345/bmj.e4505.abstract (accessed 30 January 2023).

Kesson EM, Allardice GM, George WD, et al. 2012. Effects of multidisciplinary team working on breast cancer survival: retrospective, comparative, interventional cohort study of 13 722 females. *BMJ* 344.

Kim MK, Kim T, Moon H-G, et al. 2015. Effect of cosmetic outcome on quality of life after breast cancer surgery. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 41(3): 426–32. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0748798314012876 (accessed 30 January 2023).



Lawrenson R, Lao C, Campbell I, et al. 2018. The impact of different tumour subtypes on management and survival of New Zealand females with Stage I-III breast cancer. *New Zealand Medical Journal* 131(1475): 51–60. URL: https://journal.nzma.org.nz/journal-articles/the-impact-of-different-tumour-subtypes-on-management-and-survival-of-new-zealand-females-with-stage-i-iii-breast-cancer (accessed 30 January 2023).

Lawrenson R, Lao C, Elwood M, et al. 2016. Urban rural differences in breast cancer in New Zealand. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 13(10): 1000.

Lawrenson R, Lao C, Jacobson G, et al. 2019. Outcomes in different ethnic groups of New Zealand people with screen-detected vs. non-screen-detected breast cancer. *Journal of Medical Screening* 26(4): 197–203.

Lilley R, de Graaf B, Kool B, et al. 2019. Geographical and population disparities in timely access to prehospital and advanced level emergency care in New Zealand: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open* 9(7): e026026.

Marinovich ML, Azizi L, Macaskill P, et al. 2016. The association of surgical margins and local recurrence in females with ductal carcinoma in situ treated with breast-conserving therapy: a meta-analysis. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 23(12): 3811–21.

Masters-Awatere B, Murphy S, Helmhout TB, et al. 2020. National travel assistance entitlements are inaccessible to whānau Māori. *International Perspectives in Psychology* 9(3): 180–4.

McGale P, Taylor C, Correa C, et al. 2014. Effect of radiotherapy after mastectomy and axillary surgery on 10-year recurrence and 20-year breast cancer mortality: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 8135 females in 22 randomised trials. *Lancet*, 383: 2127–35.

McLeod M, Cormack D, Harris R, et al. 2011. Achieving equitable outcomes for Māori females with cervical cancer in New Zealand: health provider views. *New Zealand Medical Journal* 124(1334): 2010–19.

Miles A, Asbridge JE. 2019. The NHS Long Term Plan (2019) – is it person-centered? *European Journal for Person Centered Healthcare* 7(1): 1–11.

Ministry of Health. 2021. *Breast Reconstruction: National guidelines for best practice*. URL: https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/breast-reconstruction-national-guidelines-best-practice (accessed 30 January 2023).

Moran MS, Schnitt SJ, Giuliano AE, et al. 2014. Society of Surgical Oncology-American Society for Radiation Oncology consensus guideline on margins for breast-conserving surgery with whole-breast irradiation in stages I and II invasive breast cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics* 88(3): 553–64. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.11.012 (accessed 30 January 2023).

New Zealand Guidelines Group. 2009. Management of Early Breast Cancer: Evidence-based Best Practice Guidelines. URL:

https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/management-early-breast-cancer-evidence-based-best-practice-guideline (accessed 30 January 2023).

Ng ET, Ang RZ, Tran BX, et al. 2019. Comparing Quality of Life in Breast Cancer People Who Underwent Mastectomy Versus Breast-Conserving Surgery: A Meta-Analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 16(24): DOI: 10.3390/ijerph16244970 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Pan H, Gray R, Braybrooke J, et al. 2017. 20-year risks of breast-cancer recurrence after stopping endocrine therapy at 5 years. *New England Journal of Medicine* 377(19): 1836–46. URL: https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/nejmoa1701830 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Prades J, Remue E, Van Hoof E, et al. 2015. Is it worth reorganising cancer services on the basis of multidisciplinary teams (MDTs)? A systematic review of the objectives and organisation of MDTs and their impact on patient outcomes. *Health Policy* 119(4): 464–74.



URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S016885101400236X (accessed 30 January 2023).

Rakha EA, El-Sayed ME, Lee AH, et al. 2008. Prognostic significance of Nottingham histologic grade in invasive breast carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 26(19): 3153–8. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.5986 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Rakha EA, Reis-Filho JS, Baehner F, et al. 2010. Breast cancer prognostic classification in the molecular era: the role of histological grade. *Breast Cancer Research* 12(4): 207. DOI: 10.1186/bcr2607 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Raphael M, Saskin R, Singh S. 2020. Association between waiting time for radiotherapy after surgery for early-stage breast cancer and survival outcomes in Ontario: A population-based outcomes study. *Current Oncology* 27(2): 216–21. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/1718-7729/27/2/5629 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Recht A, Comen EA, Fine RE, et al. 2016. Postmastectomy radiotherapy: an american society of clinical oncology, american society for radiation oncology, and society of surgical oncology focused guideline update. *Practical Radiation Oncology* 6(6): e219–e234.

Robson B, Cormack D, Purdie G. 2010. *Unequal impact II: Māori and non-Māori cancer statistics by deprivation and rural-urban status 2002–2006*. Wellington: Te Rōpū Rangahu Hauora a Eru Pōmare, University of Otago.

Schrijver WA, Suijkerbuijk KP, Van Gils CH, et al. 2018. Receptor conversion in distant breast cancer metastases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 110(6): 568–80.

Seneviratne S, Campbell I, Scott N, et al. 2015a. Adherence to adjuvant endocrine therapy: is it a factor for ethnic differences in breast cancer outcomes in New Zealand? *The Breast* 24(1): 62–7. URL:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0960977614002161 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Seneviratne S, Campbell I, Scott N, et al. 2015b. Treatment delay for Māori females with breast cancer in New Zealand. *Ethnicity & Health* 20(2): 178–93. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13557858.2014.895976 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Seneviratne S, Campbell I, Scott N, et al. 2014. Ethnic differences in timely adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy for breast cancer in New Zealand: a cohort study. *BMC Cancer* 14(1): 1–9.

Seneviratne S, Campbell I, Scott N, et al. 2017. A cohort study of ethnic differences in use of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy for breast cancer in New Zealand. *BMC Health Services Research* 17(1): 1–10.

Seneviratne S, Lawrenson R, Harvey V, et al. 2016. Stage of breast cancer at diagnosis in New Zealand: impacts of socio-demographic factors, breast cancer screening and biology. *BMC Cancer* 16(1): 1–9.

Shah C, Hobbs BP, Vicini F, et al. 2020. The Diminishing Impact of Margin Definitions and Width on Local Recurrence Rates following Breast-Conserving Therapy for Early-Stage Invasive Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 27(12): 4628–36. DOI: 10.1245/s10434-020-08878-9 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Shah C, Verma V, Sayles H, et al. 2018. Appropriate margins for breast conserving surgery in people with early stage breast cancer: a meta-analysis. Paper presented at the Cancer Research.

Slater T, Matheson A, Davies C, et al. 2016. The role and potential of community-based cancer care for Māori in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal* 129(1430): 29–38.



Stein MJ, Karir A, Arnaout A, et al. 2020. Quality-of-Life and Surgical Outcomes for Breast Cancer People Treated with Therapeutic Reduction Mammoplasty Versus Mastectomy with Immediate Reconstruction. *Annals of Surgical Oncology* 27(11): 4502–12. DOI: 10.1245/s10434-020-08574-8 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Tanuvasa AF, Neale J. 2015. Evaluation of Pacific cancer care navigation patient facilitation and support service. *Evaluation Journal of Australasia* 15(3): 30–6.

Te Aho o Te Kahu. 2021. He Pūrongo Mate Pukupuku o Aotearoa 2020, The State of Cancer in New Zealand 2020. URL: https://teaho.govt.nz/publications/cancer-state (accessed 30 January 2023).

Tin Tin S, Elwood JM, Brown C, et al. 2018. Ethnic disparities in breast cancer survival in New Zealand: which factors contribute? *BMC Cancer* 18(1): 1–10.

Tran NV, Chang DW, Gupta A, et al. 2001. Comparison of immediate and delayed free TRAM flap breast reconstruction in people receiving postmastectomy radiation therapy. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* 108(1): 78–82. DOI: 10.1097/00006534-200107000-00013 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Twaddle S, Qureshi S. 2005. Scottish intercollegiate guidelines network. *Evidence-Based Healthcare and Public Health* 6(9): 405–9.

Van Poznak C, Somerfield MR, Bast RC, et al. 2015. Use of biomarkers to guide decisions on systemic therapy for females with metastatic breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 33(24): 2695. URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5478102/ (accessed 30 January 2023).

Waks AG, Winer EP. 2019. Breast cancer treatment: a review. *JAMA* 321(3): 288–300. URL: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/article-abstract/2721183 (accessed 30 January 2023).

Whitfield GA, Horan G, Irwin MS, et al. 2009. Incidence of severe capsular contracture following implant-based immediate breast reconstruction with or without postoperative chest wall radiotherapy using 40 Gray in 15 fractions. *Radiotherapy and Oncology* 90(1): 141–7. DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2008.09.023 (accessed 30 January 2023).

